Public Document Pack

Rutland County Council
Catmose, Oakham, Rutland, LE15 6HP
Telephone 01572 722577 Email governance@rutland.gov.uk

Members of Rutland County Council District Council are hereby summoned to attend the
TWO HUNDRED AND TWENTY SECOND MEETING OF THE COUNCIL to be held via
Zoom on 12 October 2020 commencing at 7.00 pm. The business to be transacted at the
meeting is specified in the Agenda set out below. https://zoom.us/j/98853845018

Prior to the commencement of the meeting, the Chairman will offer the opportunity for those
present to join him in prayers.
Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take
photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to
the public. A protocol on this facility is available at www.rutland.gov.uk/haveyoursay

Mark Andrews
Interim Chief Executive
AGENDA
1)

APOLOGIES

2)

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

3)

ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE LEADER, MEMBERS OF THE CABINET
OR THE HEAD OF PAID SERVICE

4)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
In accordance with the Regulations, Members are invited to declare any
disclosable interests under the Code of Conduct and the nature of those
interests in respect of items on this Agenda and/or indicate if Section 106 of
the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.

5)

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Council meeting of the Rutland County Council
held on 14th September 2020.

6)

PETITIONS, DEPUTATIONS AND QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE
PUBLIC
To receive any petitions, deputations and questions received from Members of
the Public in accordance with the Virtual Meetings Regulations (s1 2020 392)
and the subsequent RCC Procedure Rules agreed at Council on 20 May 2020
and revised by Council on 14 September 2020. (Please see link: Revision to
Virtual Meetings Protocol.)

The total time allowed for this is 30 minutes.

Petitions, deputations and

questions will be dealt with in the order in which they are received and any
which are not considered within the time limit shall receive a written response
after the meeting
7)

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL
To receive any questions submitted from Members of the Council in
accordance with the provisions of Procedure Rules 30 and 30A.

8)

REFERRAL OF COMMITTEE DECISIONS TO THE COUNCIL
To determine matters where a decision taken by a Committee has been
referred to the Council in accordance with the provisions of Procedure Rule
110.

9)

CALL-IN OF DECISIONS FROM CABINET MEETINGS DURING THE
PERIOD FROM 14th SEPTEMBER TO THE 12TH OCTOBER 2020
To determine matters where a decision taken by the Cabinet has been referred
to Council by the call-in procedure of Scrutiny Panels, as a result of the
decision being deemed to be outside the Council’s policy framework by the
Monitoring Officer or not wholly in accordance with the budget by the Section
151 Officer, in accordance with the provisions of Procedure Rules 206 and
207.

10) REPORT FROM THE CABINET (Pages 5 - 8)
To receive Report No. 123/2020 from the Cabinet.
11) REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL
a.

To receive reports from Committees on matters which require
Council approval because the Committee does not have the
delegated authority to act on the Council’s behalf.

b.

To receive reports from Council Committees on any other
matters and to receive questions and answers on any of those
reports.

12) REPORTS FROM SCRUTINY COMMISSION / SCRUTINY PANELS
To receive the reports from the Scrutiny Commission / Scrutiny Panels on any
matters and to receive questions and answers on any of those reports.
13) JOINT ARRANGEMENTS AND EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS
To receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the business
of any joint arrangements or external organisations.
14) NOTICES OF MOTION
To consider any Notices of Motion submitted by Members of the Council in
accordance with Procedure Rule 34 in the order in which they are recorded as

having been received.
15) POLITICAL BALANCE AND ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO POLITICAL
GROUPS (Pages 9 - 14)
To receive Report No:120/2020 from the Monitoring Officer.

16) PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE: WHITE PAPER (Pages 15 - 104)
To receive Report No. 124/2020 from the Interim Strategic Director for Places.
17) ANY URGENT BUSINESS
To receive items of urgent business which have been previously notified to the
person presiding.
---oOo--TO:

MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL
Mr E Baines – Chairman of the Council
Mr N Begy – Vice-Chairman of the Council
Mr K Bool
Mr O Hemsley
Mr R Coleman
Mr A Walters
Mr P Ainsley
Mr A Brown
Mr W Cross
Mrs S Harvey
Mr A Lowe
Mr M Oxley
Mrs R Powell
Miss G Waller
Mr N Woodley

Mr J Dale
Mr G Brown
Mrs L Stephenson
Mr D Wilby
Mr D Blanksby
Ms J Burrows
Mrs J Fox
Miss M Jones
Ms A MacCartney
Mrs K Payne
Mr I Razzell
Mrs S Webb

---oOo--THE COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC AIMS
Delivering sustainable development
Vibrant communities
Protecting the vulnerable
Customer focused services

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Report No: 123/2020
PUBLIC REPORT

COUNCIL
12 October 2020

CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL
Report of the Cabinet
Strategic Aim:

All

Exempt Information

No

Cabinet Member(s)
Responsible:

N/A

Contact Officer(s): Kit Silcock, Governance Officer

Ward Councillors

Phil Horsfield, Deputy Director
Corporate Governance
N/A

01572 720976
ksilcock@rutland.gov.uk
01572 758154
phorsfield@rutland.gov.uk

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS
That Council:
1. Notes the Key Decisions made by Cabinet since the publication of the agenda for
the previous ordinary meeting of the Council on 14th September 2020, as detailed
in Appendix A of this report.

1

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

To report to Council the Key Decisions made by Cabinet since the publication of
the agenda for the previous ordinary meeting of the Council on 14th September
2020 as detailed in Appendix A of this report.

2

BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS

2.1

The Key Decisions listed in Appendix A have already been taken and can be
found in the Cabinet Record of Decisions for the meeting of 15th September 2020.

3

CONSULTATION

3.1

Consultation for Key Decisions is included in the reports for the meetings of
Cabinet referred to in Appendix A.

5

4

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
The only other option would be to not receive the Cabinet’s report to Council.
However Procedure Rule 246.3 of the Constitution requires the submission of the
report.

5

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

There are no financial implications as the decisions are for noting by Council

6

LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS

6.1

The Key Decisions listed in Appendix A have already been taken and the record is
for Council’s information only.

7

DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS

7.1

Any Data Protection implications are outlined in the reports referred to in Appendix
A.

8

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1

Any Equality Impact Assessments are contained in the reports referred to in
Appendix A.

9

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Any Community Safety implications are outlined in or are contained in the reports
referred to in Appendix A.

10

HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS

10.1

Any Health and Wellbeing Implications are outlined in or contained in the reports
referred to in Appendix A.

11

CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE
RECOMMENDATIONS

11.1

That the Council notes the decisions listed from Cabinet in order to ensure the
procedure rules in the Constitution are followed.

12

BACKGROUND PAPERS

12.1

Cabinet Record of Decisions: Tuesday 15 September

13

APPENDICES

13.1

Appendix A – Key Decisions made by Cabinet since the Previous Ordinary
Meeting of the Council.

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available
upon request – Contact 01572 722577.
6

Appendix A
Council
12th October 2020
Key decisions made by the Cabinet since the publication of the Agenda for the Meeting of the Council on 14th September 2020. These
decisions have already been taken and this record is for Council’s information only:

Date

Title

1) FAMILY ADOPTION
15th
LINKS REGIONAL
September
ADOPTION AGENCY
2020

7

10 DISCOVER RUTLAND
15th
TOURISM STRATEGY
September
2020

11 RUTLAND
15th
COUNTRYSIDE ACCESS
September
FORUM
2020

Decision
Cabinet approved:
1. Agree to delegate further key decisions in relation to the formation of the Family Adoption
Links Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) to the Director of Children’s Services in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Lifelong Learning, Early Years, SEND,
Inclusion, Safeguarding Children and young People. This includes authority to enter into
the final Interagency Partnership Agreement.
Cabinet approved:
1. Notes the development of the Discover Rutland Tourism Strategy by the Discover
Rutland Management Board.
2. Approves the use of £28,000 from Section 106 funds to match fund, with Discover
Rutland, a new “Rutland – Open for Visitors” campaign, which will support the delivery of
the objectives outlined in the Strategy, and strengthen the resilience of the tourism sector
in response to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, contributing to the county’s
economic recovery.
Cabinet approved:
1. Approves the Changes to the Terms of Reference and area of the Local Access Forum
(LAF) for Rutland, to be known as the Rutland Countryside Access Forum (RCAF), in
accordance with the requirements of section 94 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act
2000
2. Approves the area for the Local Access Forum being the Administrative Area of Rutland
County Council.

Date

Title

Decision

13 RENEWAL OF
15th
FRAMEWORK
September
CONTRACT FOR DE-2)
2020
ICING PRODUCTS
(SALT)
3)
4)
10 SLL CATMOSE SPORTS
15th
CONTRACT COVID19
September
IMPACT
2020

Cabinet Approved:
1. Approves the renewal of the ESPO Framework Agreement 220- De-icing Salt and
Associated Products/ services for the period of 1st July 2020- 30th April 2024.
2. Notes that the calling-off process from lot 1 under the ESPO Framework 220 will occur
annually between 1st May- 30th September.
Cabinet Approved:
1. Authorises the Director for Places and the Director for Resources, in consultation with the
Cabinet Member with Portfolio for Finance and the Cabinet Member with Portfolio for
Culture & Leisure, to agree financial support to the Council’s leisure operator (Stevenage
Leisure Ltd) of £269,021 (£168,191 in 2020/21 and £100,830 in 2021/22) in light of the
Covid-19 impact.

8

Agenda Item 15
Report No: 120/2020
PUBLIC REPORT

COUNCIL
12 October 2020

POLITICAL BALANCE AND ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO
POLITICAL GROUPS
Report of the Monitoring Officer
Strategic Aim:

All

Exempt Information

No

Cabinet Member(s)
Responsible:

N/A

Contact Officer(s): Phil Horsfield, Monitoring Officer,
Deputy Director Corporate
Governance
Emma Powley, Governance
Manager

01572 758154
phorsfield@rutland.gov.uk
01572 720991
epowley@rutland.gov.uk

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS
That Council:
1. Notes the changes to the make-up of the political groupings of the Council
2. Allocates seat(s) on relevant committee(s) appointed by Council to political groups.

1.

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

To request that Council notes the changes to the composition of the political
grouping of the Council and allocates seats on relevant committees appointed by
Council to political groups.

1.2

There are currently 53 seats/voting places on the Council, as set out in the table
below:
Committee
Audit and Risk Committee
Conduct Committee
Planning and Licensing Committee
Employment and Appeals Committee
Adults and Health Scrutiny
Children and Young People’s Scrutiny

9

No. of places
7
6
12
7
7
7

Growth, Infrastructure and Resources Scrutiny
Total

7
53

2.

POLITICAL BALANCE

2.1

Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (the Act) imposes a
duty on the Council at its Annual meeting to review the allocation of seats on its
committees between political groups.

2.2

At the Annual Council meeting on the 29th June 2020, Council agreed to the
proportionality and subsequent allocations were made to Committee Places.

2.3

At a further Council meeting held on the 14th September 2020, Council agreed to
apply in allocating seats on Committees etc. set out in Section 15 and 16 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, only to political groups and not nonaligned members

2.4

On the 17th September 2020, Councillor Blanksby informed the Chief Executive
and Monitoring Officer that he no longer wished to be a member of the
Conservative Group and would be an independent, non-aligned member of the
Council.

2.5

The allocation of seats is required to conform to the principles of proportionality
contained in sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
There is a duty to give effect to the following principles, as far as reasonably
practicable, in the order shown:
a)

Not all the seats on the body are allocated to the same political group

b)

A majority of the seats on a body are allocated to a group if it comprises a
majority of the total membership of the authority;

c)

Subject to (a) and (b) above, that the number of seats on ordinary
committees allocated to each group bears the same proportion to the
total of all seats on ordinary committees as is borne by the number of
members of that group to the total membership of the authority; and

d)

Subject to (a) to (c) above, that the number of seats on a body allocated
to each group bears the same proportion to the number of seats on that
body as is borne by the number of members of that group to the total
membership of the authority.

e)

For political balance, a group is required to have at least two members in
order to be formally constituted as a political group.

2.6

The political proportionality rules that apply in allocating seats on Committees etc.
set out in Section 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 apply
only to political groups and not non-aligned (un-grouped) Members.

2.7

The composition of the Council is shown in the following table. Using 53 as the
total number of voting places across all Committees, the final column shows the
total number of places each group is entitled to, using the calculated proportions.

10

Group

No. As a % of
of
25*
Cllrs

Number
of seats

Rounded
number
of seats

Conservatives

16

64

33.92

34

Independent Group

6

24

12.72

13

Liberal Democrat

3

12

6.36

6

25

100%

53

53

2

0

0

0

27

100%

53

53

Non-grouped

* The 2 Members who are not part of a group are not accounted for in the political
balance calculation (As set out in Regulations and the 1972 Act hence 25 rather
than 27).
2.8

The principle that the majority of seats on all Committees and Sub- Committees are
allocated to the political group that has a majority of the Council’s membership has
been applied.

2.9

Calculating the composition as set out in the table above then, following
discussions with the Group Leaders would mean that Cllr Blanksby is to be
removed from the Planning and Licensing Committee and another Conservative
Group Member appointed. Councillor Blanksby would also be removed from the
Growth, Infrastructure and Resources Scrutiny Committee. The recalculation of
committee places would entitle the Independent Group to an additional
appointment on the Growth, Infrastructure and Resources Scrutiny Committee.

2.10

Appendix A shows the allocation and appointments made at the Council meeting
held on the 14th September 2020.

3.

CONSULTATION

3.1

The information presented in the report has been compiled in consultation with the
relevant Group Leaders.

4.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

4.1

In line with the relevant legislation, the Council must review the Political Balance
and allocation of seats at its Annual Council or when changes occur.

4.2

The alternatives are set out in the report

5.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report.

6.

LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS

6.1

The Council must allocate seats on committees so as to give effect to the political
balance rules.

11

6.2

Constitutionally, the Council is required to review the representation of Groups at its
Annual Meeting each year and as soon as practicable after an event, which alters
the political balance between the Groups and to determine the allocation of seats to
be filled by appointments by the Council. This is in accordance with Sections 15 to
17 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and Section 8 of the Local
Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 (Requirement to
Constitute Political Groups).

7.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been completed because there are
no service, policy or organisational changes being proposed.

8.

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

8.1

There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

9.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS

9.1

There are no health and well-being implications arising from this report.

10.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

10.1

None

11.

APPENDICES

11.1

Appendix A - Approved Nominations to Committees- Council- 14th September
2020

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available
upon request – Contact 01572 722577.

12

Appendix A

Committee Places

1
2
3
4
5
6
7

AUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEE
Councillor
Mrs K Payne - Chair
Mr I Razzell
Mr N Woodley
Mr E Baines
Mrs R Powell
Mr A Brown
Miss G Waller

PLANNING & LICENSING
COMMITTEE
Councillor
1 Mr I Razzell - Chair
2 Mr P Ainsley
3 Mr W Cross
4 Mr E Baines
5 Mrs S Harvey
6 Mrs K Payne
7 Mr N Begy
8 Mr D Blanksby
9 Mr M Oxley
10 Mrs M Jones
11 Mr A Brown
12 Miss A MacCartney

Allocation
Con
Con
Con
Con
Independent
Independent
Lib Dem

1
2
3
4
5
6
7

EMPLOYMENT & APPEALS
COMMITTEE
Councillor
Mr K Bool - Chair
Mrs K Payne
Mrs S Harvey
Mr N Woodley
Mrs M Jones
Mr A Lowe
Miss G Waller

Allocation
Con
Con
Con
Con
Independent
Independent
Lib Dem

CONDUCT COMMITTEE
Allocation
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Independent
Independent
Independent
Lib Dem

1
2
3
4
5
6

13

Councillor
Mr O Hemsley- Chair
Mr I Razzell
Mr N Woodley
Mrs L Stephenson
Mrs S Webb
Mr A Brown

Allocation
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Independent
Independent

Scrutiny Commission
Chair of Children & Young People

Chair of Adults & Health

1
2
3
4
5
6
7

GIR SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE
Councillor
Mrs J Fox - Chair
Mr N Begy
Mrs K Payne
Mr D Blanksby
Mr I Razzell
Mrs M Jones
Mrs MacCartney

Allocation
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Independent
Lib Dem

1
2
3
4
5
6
7

1
2
3
4
5
6
7

CHILDREN & YOUNG
PEOPLE SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE
Councillor
Mr P Ainsley - Chair
Mrs S Harvey
Mr N Begy
Mr R Coleman
Mr K Bool
Mrs S Webb
Mrs J Burrows

Chair of Growth, Infrastructure &
Resources

ADULTS & HEALTH
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Councillor
Mrs S Harvey - Chair
Mr P Ainsley
Mr W Cross
Mrs J Fox
Mr E Baines
Mrs R Powell
Miss G Waller

Allocation
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Independent
Lib Dem

14

Allocation
Cons
Cons
Cons
Cons
Con
Independent
Lib Dem

Agenda Item 16
Report No: 124/2020
PUBLIC REPORT

COUNCIL
12 October 2020

PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE: WHITE PAPER
Report of the Interim Strategic Director for Places
Strategic Aim:

All

Exempt Information

No

Cabinet Member(s)
Responsible:

Mr G Brown, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for
Planning and Finance

Contact Officer(s): Penny Sharp, Interim Strategic
Director for Places

Tel: 01572 758160
psharp@rutland.gov.uk

Roger Ranson, Planning Policy
Manager

Tel: 01572 758238
rranson@rutland.gov.uk

Ward Councillors

All

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS
That Council debates and comments on the Planning White Paper to inform the
response of Cabinet.

1

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

The Report seeks the views of Council on the Planning White Paper (Appendix A)
to inform Cabinet’s response on behalf of the Authority. The Report is brought as,
while the response is an Executive Function, the White Paper has the potential to
have serious impacts on both the development requirement and local democratic
control of development within the County.

2

BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS

2.1

The Planning for the Future White Paper launched in August 2020 intends to
reform the planning system and has a stated intention to provide a modern and
streamlined approach to the complete planning process.

2.2

The consultation with the general public and interested parties will last until the 29
October 2020, and provides the opportunity for the Council to respond to the
Government’s proposals as set out in the White Paper

15

2.3

Key changes proposed include:

2.4

The requirement for local plans to be simplified and for three categories of land to
be identified. These are growth, renewal and protect.

2.5

A Growth area would have outline planning approval, automatically establishing
the principle of development. These areas would be designated for substantial
development such as new settlements or urban extensions.

2.6

For renewal areas the proposals provide for a statutory presumption in favour of
development. This development would have to meet specified criteria and would
include increasing the density of residential areas, development in town centres
and small sites in and around villages.

2.7

Protect areas would include areas such as green belt, conservation areas and
areas of outstanding natural beauty and little would change for these.

2.8

These categories would be contained within local plans which would be subject to
a test of sustainable development rather than soundness and would focus less on
deliverability. Plans would be required to be completed within 30 months.

2.9

Public engagement is also a key theme. The White Paper aims to ensure that
planning should be digitised and made more visual to make it easier for members
of the public to engage and make comments. The White paper also provides that
engagement at the application stage is going to be ‘streamlined’ with the majority
of public involvement at the local plan stage (despite the limit on the time available
to make a local plan detailed above).

2.10

Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) would be replaced with a
national single infrastructure levy. Payments under the new system would be
linked to the final value development “as a nationally set, value-based flat rate
charge”. The amount of contributions collected nationally would be expected to
cover the entire cost of the planning system and would be an increase on the
current amounts collected.

2.11

The NPPF would become the primary source of policies for development
management. Locally design codes would be prepared. These would be ‘more
binding’ on planning decisions and their development would be supported by a
new body.

2.12

Automatic permission could be granted for proposals deemed of high quality that
reflect local character and preferences (called ‘fast-track for beauty’).

2.13

The role of planning committees would be significantly reduced, with elected
members not envisaged as having a role where the principle of development has
already been established.

2.14

Each local authority would be required to have a chief officer for design and place
making.

2.15

There would be firm deadlines for the grant of planning, with the potential for
deemed consent if a decision is not made within set timeframes.

2.16

Local authorities would be subject to a new performance framework which would

16

enable earlier intervention if ‘problems’ emerge with individual authorities.
2.17

Proposals will be announced for improving the resourcing of planning
departments.

2.18

Importantly Councillors should note that this is all in the context of a separate
consultation that closed on 1st October 2020. The proposals set out in that
consultation would mean that Rutland would be required to deliver more than twice
as many houses as under the present methodology.

3

CONSULTATION

3.1

The Report seeks the views of the whole Council on these proposals to enable a
Cabinet to respond to the consultation by the Government.

4

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

4.1

Council could choose not to comment on the proposals

5

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

None in respect of the consultation. There would clearly be significant financial
implications were the proposals to be implemented (for example in relation to CIL
and Section 106)

6

LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS

6.1

The Report provides Council with the opportunity to comment on the Consultation.
While Planning Policy is a function of Council and the Planning Committee these
are proposals from Central Government rather than Planning Policy and so are the
responsibility of the Executive.

7

DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS

7.1

A Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) has not been completed as the
Council is responding to the Consultation and so there are no Data Protection
implications.

8

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1

An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been completed as the as the
Council is responding to the Consultation and so any impact on the equalities will
be for central government to address.

9

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Should Council believe that there are potential community safety implications then
these can be provided and inform the response to the consultation.

10

HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS

10.1

Should Council believe that there are potential health and wellbeing implications
then these can be provided and inform the response to the consultation.

11

CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE

17

RECOMMENDATIONS
11.1

The proposals are significant and wide ranging and therefore it is considered
important that the view of the elected representatives for Rutland is heard by
Central Government in this consultation.

12

BACKGROUND PAPERS

12.1

There are no additional Background papers to the Report

13

APPENDICES (MANDATORY, SIMPLY STATE IF THERE ARE NO
APPENDICES)

13.1

Planning for the Future: White Paper August 2020

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available
upon request – Contact 01572 722577.

18

Appendix A. Planning for the Future: White Paper August 2020

19

This page is intentionally left blank

White Paper August 2020

21

22

Contents
Scope of the consultation

4

Ministerial Foreword	6
Introduction	
10
Pillar One – Planning for development	26
Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful and sustainable places	44

23

Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and connected places

60

Delivering change	68
What happens next	74
Annex A

78

Scope of the consultation
Topic of this consultation:

This consultation seeks any views on each part of a package of proposals for reform of the planning system in England
to streamline and modernise the planning process, improve outcomes on design and sustainability, reform developer
contributions and ensure more land is available for development where it is needed.

Scope of this consultation:

This consultation covers a package of proposals for reform of the planning system in England, covering plan-making,
development management, development contributions, and other related policy proposals.
Views are sought for specific proposals and the wider package of reforms presented.
These proposals relate to England only.

Impact Assessment:

The Government is mindful of its responsibility to have regard to the potential impact of any proposal on the Public Sector
Equality Duty. In each part of the consultation we would invite any views on the duty. We are also seeking views on the
potential impact of the package as a whole on the Public Sector Equality Duty.

24

Geographical scope:

4 | Planning For The Future

Basic information
To:

This consultation is open to everyone. We are keen to hear from a wide range of interested parties from across the public and
private sectors, as well as from the general public.

Body/bodies responsible
for the consultation:

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

Duration:

This consultation will last for 12 weeks from 6 August 2020.

Enquiries:

For any enquiries about the consultation please contact planningforthefuture@communities.gov.uk.

25

How to respond:

You may respond by going to our website https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future
Alternatively you can email your response to the questions in this consultation to planningforthefuture@communities.gov.uk.
If you are responding in writing, please make it clear which
questions you are responding to.
Written responses should be sent to:
Planning for the Future Consultation,
Planning Directorate, 3rd Floor, Fry Building, 2 Marsham Street, London SW1P 4DF.
When you reply it would be very useful if you confirm whether
you are replying as an individual or submitting an official
response on behalf of an organisation and include:
• your name,
• your position (if applicable), and
• the name of organisation (if applicable).

Planning For The Future | 5

Foreword from the Prime Minister
I never cease to be amazed by the incredible potential of this country. The vast array
of innovations and talent that, when combined with our extraordinary can-do spirit,
has brought forth everything from the jet engine to gene editing therapy.

But as we approach the second decade of the 21st century that potential is being artificially
constrained by a relic from the middle of the 20th – our outdated and ineffective planning system.
Designed and built in 1947 it has, like any building of that age, been patched up here and
there over the decades.
Extensions have been added on, knocked down and rebuilt according to the whims of
whoever’s name is on the deeds at the time. Eight years ago a new landlord stripped most
of the asbestos from the roof.

26

But make-do-and-mend can only last for so long and, in 2020, it is no longer fit for
human habitation.
Thanks to our planning system, we have nowhere near enough homes in the right places.
People cannot afford to move to where their talents can be matched with opportunity.
Businesses cannot afford to grow and create jobs. The whole thing is beginning to crumble
and the time has come to do what too many have for too long lacked the courage to do –

One that is simpler, clearer and quicker to navigate, delivering results in weeks and months
rather than years and decades.
That actively encourages sustainable, beautiful, safe and useful development rather than
obstructing it.
That makes it harder for developers to dodge their obligations to improve infrastructure and
opens up housebuilding to more than just the current handful of massive corporations.
That gives you a greater say over what gets built in your community.
That makes sure start-ups have a place to put down roots and that businesses great and
small have the space they need to grow and create jobs.
And, above all, that gives the people of this country the homes we need in the places we
want to live at prices we can afford, so that all of us are free to live where we can connect
our talents with opportunity.
Getting homes built is always a controversial business. Any planning application, however
modest, almost inevitably attracts objections and I am sure there will be those who say this
paper represents too much change too fast, too much of a break from what has gone before.

tear it down and start again.

But what we have now simply does not work.

That is what this paper proposes.

So let’s do better. Let’s make the system work for all of us. And let’s take big, bold steps so that

Radical reform unlike anything we have seen since the Second World War.

we in this country can finally build the homes we all need and the future we all want to see.

Not more fiddling around the edges, not simply painting over the damp patches, but
levelling the foundations and building, from the ground up, a whole new planning system
for England.
The Rt. Hon. Boris Johnson MP
Prime Minister
6 | Planning For The Future

“The homes we need in
the places we want to
live in at prices we can
afford, so that all of us
are free to live where we
can connect our talents
with opportunity.”

27

Foreword from the Secretary of State
The outbreak of COVID-19 has affected the economic and social lives of the entire

nation. With so many people spending more time at home than ever before, we have

We will build environmentally friendly homes that will not need to be expensively retrofitted in
the future, homes with green spaces and new parks at close hand, where tree lined streets are

come to know our homes, gardens and local parks more intimately. For some this has

the norm and where neighbours are not strangers.

the people they love. For others – those in small, substandard homes, those unable

We are moving away from notices on lampposts to an interactive and accessible map-based

been a welcome opportunity to spend more time in the place they call home with

to walk to distant shops or parks, those struggling to pay their rent, or indeed for

those who do not have a home of their own at all – this has been a moment where

online system – placing planning at the fingertips of people. The planning process will be
brought into the 21st century. Communities will be reconnected to a planning process that is
supposed to serve them, with residents more engaged over what happens in their areas.

Such times require decisive action and a plan for a better future. These proposals will help us

While the current system excludes residents who don’t have the time to contribute to the

to build the homes our country needs, bridge the present generational divide and recreate an

lengthy and complex planning process, local democracy and accountability will now be

ownership society in which more people have the security and dignity of a home of their own.

enhanced by technology and transparency.

Our proposals seek a significantly simpler, faster and more predictable system. They aim to

Reforming the planning system isn’t a task we undertake lightly, but it is both an overdue and

facilitate a more diverse and competitive housing industry, in which smaller builders can thrive

a timely reform. Millions of jobs depend on the construction sector and in every economic

alongside the big players, where all pay a fair share of the costs of infrastructure and the

recovery, it has played a crucial role.

28

longstanding issues in our development and planning system have come to the fore.

affordable housing existing communities require and where permissions are more swiftly
turned into homes.

This paper sets out how we will reform the planning system to realise that vision and make
it more efficient, effective and equitable. I am most grateful to the taskforce of experts who

We are cutting red tape, but not standards. This Government doesn’t want to just build

have generously offered their time and expert advice as we have developed our proposals

houses. We want a society that has re-established powerful links between identity and place,

for reform – Bridget Rosewell, Miles Gibson, Sir Stuart Lipton, Nicholas Boys Smith, and

between our unmatchable architectural heritage and the future, between community and

Christopher Katkowski QC.

purpose. Our reformed system places a higher regard on quality, design and local vernacular
than ever before, and draws inspiration from the idea of design codes and pattern books that
built Bath, Belgravia and Bournville. Our guiding principle will be as Clough Williams-Ellis said
to cherish the past, adorn the present and build for the future.
The Rt. Hon. Robert Jenrick MP

Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government
8 | Planning For The Future

29

“These proposals will help
us to build the homes
our country needs,
bridge the present
generational divide and
recreate an ownership
society in which more
people have the dignity
and security of a home
of their own.”

Introduction
The challenge we face – an inefficient, opaque process and poor outcomes

development. In doing this, it must ensure new development brings with it the schools,

The planning system is central to our most important national challenges: tackling head on the

our unmatchable architectural heritage and natural environment.

hospitals, surgeries and transport local communities need, while at the same time protecting

shortage of beautiful, high quality homes and places where people want to live and work;
combating climate change; improving biodiversity; supporting sustainable growth in all parts of

There is some brilliant planning and development. And there are many brilliant planners

the country and rebalancing our economy; delivering opportunities for the construction sector,

and developers. But too often excellence in planning is the exception rather than the rule,

upon which millions of livelihoods depend; the ability of more people to own assets and have a

as it is hindered by several problems with the system as it stands:

stake in our society; and our capacity to house the homeless and provide security and dignity.

1

•	It is too complex: the planning system we have today was shaped by the Town and
Country Planning Act 1947, which established planning as nationalised and discretionary

purpose. It must make land available in the right places and for the right form of

in character. Since then, decades of reform have built complexity, uncertainty and delay

30

To succeed in meeting these challenges, as we must, the planning system needs to be fit for

into the system. It now works best for large investors and companies, and worst for those
without the resources to manage a process beset by risk and uncertainty. A simpler
framework would better support a more competitive market with a greater diversity of
developers, and more resilient places.
•	Planning decisions are discretionary rather than rules-based: nearly all decisions to grant
consent are undertaken on a case-by-case basis, rather than determined by clear rules for
what can and cannot be done. This makes the English planning system and those derived
from it an exception internationally, and it has the important consequences of increasing
planning risk, pushing up the cost of capital for development and discouraging both

There is some brilliant planning and
development. And there are many
brilliant planners and developers.
1 0 | Planning For The Future

Planning decisions are discretionary
rather than rules-based: nearly all
decisions to grant consent are
undertaken on a case-by-case basis.

31

innovation and the bringing forward of land for development.2 Decisions are also often
overturned – of the planning applications determined at appeal, 36 per cent of decisions
relating to major applications and 30 per cent of decisions relating to minor applications
are overturned.3
•	It takes too long to adopt a Local Plan: although it is a statutory obligation to have an
up-to-date Local Plan in place, only 50 per cent of local authorities (as of June 2020) do,
and Local Plan preparation takes an average of seven years (meaning many policies are
effectively out of date as soon as they are adopted).

32

•	Assessments of housing need, viability and environmental impacts are too complex and
opaque: land supply decisions are based on projections of household and business ‘need’
typically over 15- or 20-year periods. These figures are highly contested and do not provide
a clear basis for the scale of development to be planned for. Assessments of environmental
impacts and viability add complexity and bureaucracy but do not necessarily lead to
environmental improvements nor ensure sites are brought forward and delivered.
• It has lost public trust with, for example, a recent poll finding that only seven per cent
trusted their local council to make decisions about large scale development that will be
good for their local area (49 per cent and 36 per cent said they distrusted developers and
local authorities respectively).4 And consultation is dominated by the few willing and able to
navigate the process – the voice of those who stand to gain from development is not heard
loudly enough, such as young people. The importance of local participation in planning is
now the focus of a campaign by the Local Government Association but this involvement
must be accessible to all people.5

1 2 | Planning For The Future

The planning system is based on
20th-century technology: planning
systems are reliant on legacy
software that burden the
sector with repetitive tasks.

•	It is based on 20th-century technology: planning systems are reliant on legacy software that
burden the sector with repetitive tasks. The planning process remains reliant on
documents, not data, which reduces the speed and quality of decision-making. The user
experience of the planning system discourages engagement, and little use is made of
interactive digital services and tools. We have heard that for many developers the worst
thing that can happen is for the lead local authority official to leave their job – suggesting
a system too dependent on the views of a particular official at a particular time, and not
transparent and accessible requirements shaped by communities.

33

•	The process for negotiating developer contributions to affordable housing and infrastructure
is complex, protracted and unclear: as a result, the outcomes can be uncertain, which further
diminishes trust in the system and reduces the ability of local planning authorities to plan
for and deliver necessary infrastructure. Over 80 per cent of planning authorities agree that
planning obligations cause delay.6 It also further increases planning risk for developers and
landowners, thus discouraging development and new entrants.
•	There is not enough focus on design, and little incentive for high quality new homes and
places: There is insufficient incentive within the process to bring forward proposals that are
beautiful and which will enhance the environment, health, and character of local areas.
Local Plans do not provide enough certainty around the approved forms of development,
relying on vague and verbal statements of policy rather than the popularly endorsed visual
clarity that can be provided by binding design codes. This means that quality can be
negotiated away too readily and the lived experience of the consumer ignored too readily.

Planning For The Future | 13

• It simply does not lead to enough homes being built, especially in those places where
the need for new homes is the highest. Adopted Local Plans, where they are in place,
provide for 187,000 homes per year across England – not just significantly below our
ambition for 300,000 new homes annually, but also lower than the number of homes
delivered last year (over 241,000).7 The result of long-term and persisting undersupply is that
housing is becoming increasingly expensive, including relative to our European neighbours.
In Italy, Germany and the Netherlands, you can get twice as much housing space for your
money compared to the UK.8 We need to address the inequalities this has entrenched.
A poor planning process results in poor outcomes. Land use planning and development control

34

are forms of regulation, and like any regulation should be predictable and accessible, and strike
a fair balance between consumers, producers and wider society. But too often the planning
system is unpredictable, too difficult to engage with or understand, and favours the biggest
players in the market who are best able to negotiate and navigate through the process.
The Government has made significant progress in recent years in increasing house building,
with construction rates at a 30-year high in 2019. But these fundamental issues in the system
remain, and we are still lagging behind many of our European neighbours. And as the
Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission found in its interim report last year, too often
what we do build is low quality and considered ugly by local residents.9

1 4 | Planning For The Future

The Government has made significant
progress in recent years to increase
house building, with construction rates
at a 30-year high.

35

A new vision for England’s planning system
This paper and the reforms that follow are an attempt to rediscover the original mission and
purpose of those who sought to improve our homes and streets in late Victorian and early
20th-century Britain. That original vision has been buried under layers of legislation and case
law. We need to rediscover it.

• protections for environmental and heritage assets – such as Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONBs), and Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and Conservation
Areas – continue to protect our treasured countryside and historic places; and
• we have democratised and localised the planning process by abolishing the top-down regional
strategies and unelected regional planning bodies, and empowered communities to prepare

Planning matters. Where we live has a measurable effect on our physical and mental health:

a plan for their area, through our introduction of neighbourhood planning – with over 2,600

on how much we walk, on how many neighbours we know or how tense we feel on the daily

communities taking advantage of our reforms so far.

journey to work or school. Places affect us from the air that we breathe to our ultimate sense
But the simple truth is that decades of complexity and political argument have resulted in

more beauty than poorer people and can better afford the rising costs of homes. As a nation

a system which is providing neither sufficient homes nor good enough new places. Nor is

we need to do this better. Evidence from the Town and Country Planning Association

it fairly using the talents and passions of public sector planners who often feel over-worked

(TCPA), the Royal Town Planning Institue (RTPI) and the Green Building Council to the

and under-appreciated, trapped between the urgent need for more homes, an insufficiently

Building Better Building Beautiful Commission all emphasised that the evidence on what

competitive market and a policy framework which makes it almost impossible for them to

people want and where they flourish is remarkably consistent.

insist upon beautiful and sustainable new homes and places.

The Government’s planning reforms since 2010 have started to address the underlying issues:

The planning system needs to be better at unlocking growth and opportunity in all parts

• last year, we delivered over 241,000 homes, more new homes than at any point in the last 30 years;

of the country, at encouraging beautiful new places, at supporting the careful stewardship

• our reforms to change-of-use rules have supported delivery of over 50,000 new homes;

and rebirth of town and city centres, and at supporting the revitalisation of existing buildings

• the rate of planning applications granted has increased since 2010;

as well as supporting new development.

36

of purpose and wellbeing. This is a question of social justice too. Better off people experience

10

• the National Planning Policy Framework, introduced in 2012, has greatly simplified the
previously huge volume of policy;
• we have introduced a simplified formula for assessing housing need and clearer incentives
for local authorities to have up-to-date plans in place;
• we have introduced greater democratic accountability over infrastructure planning, giving
elected Ministers responsibility for planning decisions about this country’s nationally significant
energy, transport, water, wastewater and waste projects;
• we have continued to protect the Green Belt;
1 6 | Planning For The Future

It is also time for the planning system finally to move towards a modernised, open data
approach that creates a reliable national picture of what is happening where in planning,
makes planning services more efficient, inclusive and consistent, and unlocks the data
needed by property developers and the emerging Property Technology (PropTech) sector,
to help them make more informed decisions on what to build and where.

37
Planning For The Future | 17

We wish to:
• be more ambitious for the places we create, expecting new development to be beautiful
and to create a ‘net gain’ not just ‘no net harm’;
• move the democracy forward in the planning process and give neighbourhoods and communities
an earlier and more meaningful voice in the future of their area as plans are made, harnessing
digital technology to make it much easier to access and understand information about specific
planning proposals. More engagement should take place at the Local Plan phase;
• improve the user experience of the planning system, to make planning information easier to
find and understand and make it appear in the places that discussions are happening, for

38

example in digital neighbourhood groups and social networks. New digital engagement

of place. We need to build more homes at gentle densities in and around town centres and

processes will make it radically easier to raise views about and visualise emerging proposals

high streets, on brownfield land and near existing infrastructure so that families can meet

whilst on-the-go on a smart phone;

their aspirations. Good growth will make it easier to level up the economic and social

• support home ownership, helping people and families own their own beautiful, affordable,

opportunities available to communities.

green and safe homes, with ready access to better infrastructure and green spaces;
• increase the supply of land available for new homes where it is needed to address

Underpinning this, we need to modernise the day-to-day operation of the planning system.

affordability pressures, support economic growth and the renewal of our towns and cities,

Residents should not have to rely on planning notices attached to lamp posts, printed in

and foster a more competitive housing market;

newspapers or posted in libraries. The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the need for

• help businesses to expand with readier access to the commercial space they need in the
places they want and supporting a more physically flexible labour market;
• support innovative developers and housebuilders, including small and medium-sized

modern digital planning services that can be accessed from home, and many planners and
local authorities have responded brilliantly to this challenge. The planning system must build
on this success and follow other sectors in harnessing the benefits which digitisation can bring

enterprises (SMEs) and self-builders, those looking to build a diverse range of types and

– real-time information, high-quality virtual simulation, straightforward end-to-end processes.

tenure of housing, and those using innovative modern methods of construction (MMC);

It should be based on data, not documents, inclusive for all members of society, and stimulate

• promote the stewardship and improvement of our precious countryside and environment,

the innovation of the great British design industry.

ensuring important natural assets are preserved, the development potential of brownfield
land is maximised, that we support net gains for biodiversity and the wider environment and

There are growing calls for change, and for the shape that it should take – based on a bold

actively address the challenges of climate change; and

vision for end-to-end reform, rather than further piecemeal change within the existing system.

• create a virtuous circle of prosperity in our villages, towns and cities, supporting their
ongoing renewal and regeneration without losing their human scale, inheritance and sense
1 8 | Planning For The Future

Recent reports from think tanks and the Government-appointed Building Better, Building
Beautiful Commission are the latest prominent voices to have added to the chorus.11

39

Proposals
We will undertake fundamental reform of the planning system to address its underlying weaknesses
and create a system fit for the 21st century. We want to hear your views on our proposals.

First, we will streamline the planning process with more democracy
taking place more effectively at the plan-making stage, and will replace
the entire corpus of plan-making law in England to achieve this:

• Local councils should radically and profoundly re-invent the ambition, depth and breadth
with which they engage with communities as they consult on Local Plans. Our reforms will
democratise the planning process by putting a new emphasis on engagement at the
plan-making stage. At the same time, we will streamline the opportunity for consultation at
the planning application stage, because this adds delay to the process and allows a small
minority of voices, some from the local area and often some not, to shape outcomes. We
want to hear the views of a wide range of people and groups through this consultation on

• Simplifying the role of Local Plans, to focus on identifying land under three categories

our proposed reforms.

– Growth areas suitable for substantial development, and where outline approval for
development would be automatically secured for forms and types of development

• Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory “sustainable development” test, and

40

specified in the Plan; Renewal areas suitable for some development, such as gentle

unnecessary assessments and requirements that cause delay and challenge in the current

densification; and Protected areas where – as the name suggests – development is

system should be abolished. This would mean replacing the existing tests of soundness,

restricted. This could halve the time it takes to secure planning permission on larger sites

updating requirements for assessments (including on the environment and viability) and

identified in plans. We also want to allow local planning authorities to identify sub-areas

abolishing the Duty to Cooperate.

in their Growth areas for self- and custom-build homes, so that more people can build
their own homes.

• Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised, based on the latest digital
technology, and supported by a new standard template. Plans should be significantly

• Local Plans should set clear rules rather than general policies for development. We will set
out general development management policies nationally, with a more focused role for

shorter in length, and limited to no more than setting out site- or area-specific parameters
and opportunities.

Local Plans in identifying site- and area-specific requirements, alongside locally produced
design codes. This would scale back the detail and duplication contained in Local Plans,

• Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be required through legislation to meet

while encouraging a much greater focus on design quality at the local level. Plans will be

a statutory timetable (of no more than 30 months in total) for key stages of the process, and

significantly shorter in length (we expect a reduction in size of at least two thirds), as they

there will be sanctions for those who fail to do so.

will no longer contain a long list of “policies” of varying specificity – just a core set of
standards and requirements for development.

• Decision-making should be faster and more certain, within firm deadlines, and should
make greater use of data and digital technology.

2 0 | Planning For The Future

We will develop a comprehensive resources
and skills strategy for the planning sector to
support the implementation of our reforms
• We will seek to strengthen enforcement powers and sanctions so that as we move towards
a rules-based system, communities can have confidence those rules will be upheld.

• Work with tech companies and local authorities to modernise the software used for making
and case-managing a planning application, improving the user-experience for those applying
and reducing the errors and costs currently experienced by planning authorities. A new

• We will develop a comprehensive resources and skills strategy for the planning sector

more modular software landscape will encourage digital innovation and will consume

to support the implementation of our reforms – so that, as we bring in our reforms, local

and provide access to underlying data. This will help automate routine processes, such

planning authorities are equipped to create great communities through world-class civic

as knowing whether new applications are within the rules, making decision-making faster

engagement and proactive plan-making.

and more certain.

41

Second, we will take a radical, digital-first approach to modernise the
planning process. This means moving from a process based on
documents to a process driven by data. We will:

• Engage with the UK PropTech sector through a PropTech Innovation Council to make the
most of innovative new approaches to meet public policy objectives, help this emerging
sector to boost productivity in the wider planning and housing sectors, and ensure
government data and decisions support the sector’s growth in the UK and internationally.

• Support local planning authorities to use digital tools to support a new civic engagement
process for Local Plans and decision-making, making it easier for people to understand

Third, to bring a new focus on design and sustainability, we will:

what is being proposed and its likely impact on them through visualisations and other
digital approaches. We will make it much easier for people to feed in their views into the
system through social networks and via their phones.

• Ensure the planning system supports our efforts to combat climate change and maximises
environmental benefits, by ensuring the National Planning Policy Framework targets those
areas where a reformed planning system can most effectively address climate change

• Insist local plans are built on standardised, digitally consumable rules and data, enabling

mitigation and adaptation and facilitate environmental improvements.

accessible interactive maps that show what can be built where. The data will be accessed
by software used across the public sector and also by external PropTech entrepreneurs to
improve transparency, decision-making and productivity in the sector.
• Standardise, and make openly and digitally accessible, other critical datasets that the planning

• Facilitate ambitious improvements in the energy efficiency standards for buildings to help
deliver our world-leading commitment to net-zero by 2050.
• Ask for beauty and be far more ambitious for the places we create, expecting new

system relies on, including planning decisions and developer contributions. Approaches

development to be beautiful, and to create a ‘net gain’ not just ‘no net harm’, with

for fixing the underlying data are already being tested and developed by innovative local

a greater focus on ‘placemaking’ and ‘the creation of beautiful places’ within the

planning authorities and we are exploring options for how these could be scaled nationally.

National Planning Policy Framework.
Planning For The Future | 21

“The Community Infrastructure Levy and
the current system of planning will be
reformed as a nationally set, value-based
flat rate charge (the ‘Infrastructure Levy’).”
proposals for high-quality developments where they reflect local character and preferences.

Fourth, we will improve infrastructure delivery in all parts of the country
and ensure developers play their part, through reform of developer
contributions. We propose:

• Introduce a quicker, simpler framework for assessing environmental impacts and enhancement

• The Community Infrastructure Levy and the current system of planning obligations will be

• Make it easier for those who want to build beautifully through the introduction of a fast-track
for beauty through changes to national policy and legislation, to automatically permit

opportunities, that speeds up the process while protecting and enhancing England’s
unique ecosystems.
• Expect design guidance and codes – which will set the rules for the design of new

reformed as a nationally set, value-based flat rate charge (the ‘Infrastructure Levy’). A single
rate or varied rates could be set. We will aim for the new Levy to raise more revenue than
under the current system of developer contributions, and deliver at least as much – if not
more – on-site affordable housing as at present. This reform will enable us to sweep away

42

development – to be prepared locally and to be based on genuine community

months of negotiation of Section 106 agreements and the need to consider site viability.

involvement rather than meaningless consultation, so that local residents have a genuine

We will deliver more of the infrastructure existing and new communities require by

say in the design of new development, and ensure that codes have real ‘bite’ by making

capturing a greater share of the ulpift in land value that comes with development.

them more binding on planning decisions.
• Establish a new body to support the delivery of design codes in every part of the country, and
give permanence to the campaigning work of the Building Better, Building Beautiful

• We will be more ambitious for affordable housing provided through planning gain, and we
will ensure that the new Infrastructure Levy allows local planning authorities to secure more
on-site housing provision.

Commission and the life of its co-chairman the late Sir Roger Scruton.
• Ensure that each local planning authority has a chief officer for design and place-making,

• We will give local authorities greater powers to determine how developer contributions
are used, including by expanding the scope of the Levy to cover affordable housing

to help ensure there is the capacity and capability locally to raise design standards and the

provision to allow local planning authorities to drive up the provision of affordable homes.

quality of development.

We will ensure that affordable housing provision supported through developer contributions

• Lead by example by updating Homes England’s strategic objectives to give greater
emphasis to delivering beautiful places.
• Protect our historic buildings and areas while ensuring the consent framework is fit for the
21st century.

is kept at least at current levels, and that it is still delivered on-site to ensure that new
development continues to support mixed communities. Local authorities will have the
flexibility to use this funding to support both existing communities as well as new communities.
• We will also look to extend the scope of the consolidated Infrastructure Levy and remove
exemptions from it to capture changes of use through permitted development rights, so that
additional homes delivered through this route bring with them support for new infrastructure.

2 2 | Planning For The Future

Fifth, to ensure more land is available for the homes and development
people and communities need, and to support renewal of our town and
city centres, we propose:
• A new nationally determined, binding housing requirement that local planning authorities
would have to deliver through their Local Plans. This would be focused on areas where
affordability pressure is highest to stop land supply being a barrier to enough homes being
built. We propose that this would factor in land constraints, including the Green Belt, and

43

would be consistent with our aspirations of creating a housing market that is capable of
delivering 300,000 homes annually, and one million homes over this Parliament.

• To speed up construction where development has been permitted, we propose to make
it clear in the revised National Planning Policy Framework that the masterplans and design
codes for sites prepared for substantial development should seek to include a variety
of development types from different builders which allow more phases to come forward
together. We will explore further options to support faster build out as we develop
our proposals for the new planning system.
• To provide better information to local communities, to promote competition amongst
developers, and to assist SMEs and new entrants to the sector, we will consult on options
for improving the data held on contractual arrangements used to control land.
• To make sure publicly owned land and public investment in development supports
thriving places, we will:
– ensure decisions on the locations of new public buildings – such as government offices
and further education colleges – support renewal and regeneration of town centres; and
–e
 xplore how publicly owned land disposal can support the SME and self-build sectors.
Planning For The Future | 23

The change we will see – a more engaging,
equitable and effective system
Our proposals will greatly improve the user experience of the planning system, making it fit
for the next century.
Residents will be able to engage in a much more democratic system that is open to a wider
range of people whose voice is currently not heard. Residents will no longer have to rely on
planning notices attached to lamp posts, printed in newspapers and posted in libraries to find
out about newly proposed developments. Instead people will be able to use their smartphone
to give their views on Local Plans and design codes as they are developed, and to see clearer,
more visual information about development proposals near them – rather than current
planning policies and development proposals presented in PDF documents, hundreds of

44

pages long. And existing and new residents alike will gain from more affordable, green and
beautiful homes near to where they want to live and work.
Communities will be able to trust the planning system again as their voice will be heard from
the beginning of the process and better use of digital technology will make it radically easier
for people to understand what is being proposed in their neighbourhoods and provide new
ways to feed their views into the reformed system. Local Plans will be developed over a fixed
30-month period with clear engagement points, rather than the current inconsistent process
which takes seven years on average. The Infrastructure Levy will be more transparent than
Section 106, and local communities will have more control over how it is spent. Communities
will be able to set standards for design upfront through local design codes. And with more
land available for homes where they are most needed, and a renewed focus on the beauty of
new development, communities will be able to grow organically and sustainably, and
development will enhance places for everyone.
Innovators, entrepreneurs and businesses will benefit from a planning system that is much

more adaptable to the changing needs of the economy. A greater amount of land available
near to workplaces, and a more flexible approach to how that land can be used, will make it
2 4 | Planning For The Future

Innovators and businesses
will benefit from a planning
system that is much more
adaptable to the changing
need of the economy.

much easier for firms to set up and expand in the most productive locations – for example,

This consultation document does not address every detailed part of the planning system,

spin-out companies looking to set up near to research-intensive universities. A reformed

its function and objectives, but rather focuses on the key reforms that can help improve the

system that is based upon data, rather than documents will help to provide the data that

delivery and quality of homes and neighbourhoods, set within our drive towards net-zero

innovators and entrepreneurs, including the burgeoning PropTech sector, need to build new

greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.

technology to help improve citizen engagement and planning processes.
And fixing the planning system alone will not be enough – it will require a collective effort
Small builders, housing associations and those building their own home, will find this system

between Government, communities, businesses and developers over the long term. But fixing

much easier, less costly and quicker to navigate, with more land available for development

the planning system should be the starting point for these efforts.

and clearer expectations on the types of development permitted, helping them to find
development opportunities and use innovative construction methods. With permission for the
principle of development secured automatically in many cases, a major hurdle in the process
will be removed, taking two to three years out of the process. The system of developer
contributions will make it much easier for smaller developers, who will not have to engage in
months of negotiation and can instead get on with the job of building. And a shorter, more
certain process will remove significant risk from the process, lowering the need for developers
to secure long development pipelines and lowering the regulatory barriers to entry that

45

currently exist in the market. A data-led planning system will help developers of all sizes and
experience to find the planning information they need to understand what can be built and
where, which will provide greater certainty to them and their investors.
Local authorities, including mayoral combined authorities, will be liberated to plan and able
to focus on what they do best, with the shackles of current burdensome assessments and
negotiations removed. They will be able to give more attention to improving the quality of
new development and focus on those large and special sites that need the most
consideration. And the Government will support modernisation of the planning process so
that routine tasks are automated and decision-making, and plan-making, is improved by
better access to the data local authorities need.
And for our children and grandchildren, our reforms will leave an inheritance of environmental
improvement – with environmental assets protected, more green spaces provided, more
sustainable development supported, new homes that are much more energy-efficient and
new places that can become the heritage of the future, built closer to where people want
to live and work to reduce our reliance on carbon-intensive modes of transport.

Planning For The Future | 25

Pillar One – Planning for development
Overview

It is difficult for users of the planning system to find the information they need, and when
they do, it is difficult to understand. Few people read the array of evidence base documents

The starting point for an effective planning system is to establish a clear and predictable

which accompany plans and these assessments do not sufficiently aid decision-making. Much

basis for the pattern and form of development in an area. The current system of land use

of this evidence becomes dated very quickly, and production times often render policies out

planning in England is principally based on Local Plans, brought forward by local planning

of date as soon as they are adopted. Furthermore, even when the plan is in place, it cannot be

authorities on behalf of their communities. But in contrast to planning systems in places like

relied on as the definitive statement of how development proposals should be handled.

Japan, the Netherlands and Germany, where plans give greater certainty that development
is permitted in principle upfront, plans in England are policy-based, with a separate process

Local Plans should instead be focused on where they can add real value: allocating enough

required to secure permission on the sites that it designates for development.

land for development in the right places, giving certainty about what can be developed on
that land, making the process for getting permission for development as simple as possible,
and providing local communities a genuine opportunity to shape those decisions. To this end,

requirements to be identified and assessed, a forum for political debate and for different

Local Plans should:

views on the future of areas to be heard. The National Planning Policy Framework provides

•	be based on transparent, clear requirements for local authorities to identify appropriate

46

Local Plans are a good foundation on which to base reform, as they provide a route for local

a clear basis for those matters that are best set in national policy.

levels of, and locations for, development that provide certainty and that applicants and
communities can easily understand;

However, change is needed. Layers of assessment, guidance and policy have broadened the

•	communicate key information clearly and visually so that plans are accessible and easily

scope of Local Plans, requiring a disproportionate burden of evidence to support them. As

understandable, and communities can engage meaningfully in the process of developing them;

a result, Local Plans take increasingly long to produce, on average over seven years; have

•	be published as standardised data to enable a strategic national map of planning to be created;

become lengthier documents of increasing complexity, in some cases stretching to nearly 500

•	be developed using a clear, efficient and standard process;

pages; are underpinned by vast swathes of evidence base documents, often totalling at least

•	benefit from a radically and profoundly re-invented engagement with local communities so

ten times the length of the plan itself, and none of which are clearly linked, standardised, or
produced in accessible formats; and include much unnecessary repetition of national policy.

that more democracy takes place effectively at the plan-making stage; and
•	set clear expectations on what is required on land that is identified for development, so that
plans give confidence in the future growth of areas and facilitate the delivery of beautiful and
sustainable places.

2 6 | Planning For The Future

Questions
1. What three words do you associate most with the planning
system in England?
2(a). Do you get involved with planning decisions in your local area?
[Yes / No]

47

2(b). If no, why not?
[Don’t know how to / It takes too long / It’s too complicated /
I don’t care / Other – please specify]
3. Our proposals will make it much easier to access plans and contribute
your views to planning decisions. How would you like to find out about
plans and planning proposals in the future?
[Social media / Online news / Newspaper / By post /
Other – please specify]
4. What are your top three priorities for planning in your local area?
[Building homes for young people / building homes for the homeless /
Protection of green spaces / The environment, biodiversity and action
on climate change / Increasing the affordability of housing / The design
of new homes and places / Supporting the high street / Supporting the
local economy / More or better local infrastructure / Protection of
existing heritage buildings or areas / Other – please specify]
Planning For The Future | 27

Proposals
We propose a new role for Local Plans and a new process for making them, by replacing
the existing primary and secondary legislation.

A NEW APPROACH TO PLAN-MAKING
Local Plans should have a clear role and function, which should be, first, to identify land
for development and sites that should be protected;and, second, to be clear about what
development can take place in those different areas so that there is greater certainty about

48

land allocated for development and so that there is a faster route to securing permission.
They should be assessed against a single statutory “sustainable development” test to ensure
plans strike the right balance between environmental, social and economic objectives.

Proposal 1: The role of land use plans should be simplified. We propose
that Local Plans should identify three types of land – Growth areas
suitable for substantial development, Renewal areas suitable for
development, and areas that are Protected.
All areas of land would be put into one of these three categories:
• Growth areas “suitable for substantial development” – we propose that the term substantial

those around universities where there may be opportunities to create a cluster of growth-

development be defined in policy to remove any debate about this descriptor. We envisage

focused businesses. Sites annotated in the Local Plan under this category would have outline

this category would include land suitable for comprehensive development, including new

approval for development (see proposal 5 for more detail). Areas of flood risk would be

settlements and urban extension sites, and areas for redevelopment, such as former

excluded from this category (as would other important constraints), unless any risk can be

industrial sites or urban regeneration sites. It could also include proposals for sites such as

fully mitigated;

2 8 | Planning For The Future

•	Renewal areas “suitable for development” – this would cover existing built areas where

flexibilities in use allowed by virtue of the new Use Classes Order and permitted

smaller scale development is appropriate. It could include the gentle densification and infill

development). For example, it may be appropriate for some areas to be identified as

of residential areas, development in town centres, and development in rural areas that is

suitable for higher-density residential development, or for high streets and town centres to

not annotated as Growth or Protected areas, such as small sites within or on the edge of

be identified as distinct areas. In Growth areas, we would also want to allow sub-areas to be

villages. There would be a statutory presumption in favour of development being granted

created specifically for self and custom-build homes, and community-led housing

for the uses specified as being suitable in each area. Local authorities could continue to

developments, to allow a range of housing aspirations to be met and help create diverse

consider the case for resisting inappropriate development of residential gardens;

and flourishing communities. In the case of self and custom-build homes, local authorities
should identify enough land to meet the requirements identified in their self-build and

49

•	Areas that are Protected – this would include sites and areas which, as a result of their
particular environmental and/or cultural characteristics, would justify more stringent

custom housebuilding registers. For Protected areas, the key and accompanying text would
explain what is permissible by cross-reference to the National Planning Policy Framework.

development controls to ensure sustainability. This would include areas such as Green Belt,
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs), Conservation Areas, Local Wildlife Sites,

Alternative options: Rather than dividing land into three categories, we are also interested in

areas of significant flood risk and important areas of green space. At a smaller scale it can

views on more binary models. One option is to combine Growth and Renewal areas (as

continue to include gardens in line with existing policy in the National Planning Policy

defined above) into one category and to extend permission in principle to all land within this

Framework. It would also include areas of open countryside outside of land in Growth or

area, based on the uses and forms of development specified for each sub-area within it.

Renewal areas. Some areas would be defined nationally, others locally on the basis of
national policy, but all would be annotated in Local Plan maps and clearly signpost the

An alternative approach would be to limit automatic permission in principle to land identified

relevant development restrictions defined in the National Planning Policy Framework.

for substantial development in Local Plans (Growth areas); other areas of land would, as now,
be identified for different forms of development in ways determined by the local planning

This new-style Local Plan would comprise an interactive web-based map of the administrative area

authority (and taking into account policy in the National Planning Policy Framework), and

where data and policies are easily searchable, with a key and accompanying text. Areas and sites

subject to the existing development management process.

would be annotated and colour-coded in line with their Growth, Renewal or Protected designation,
with explanatory descriptions set out in the key and accompanying text, as appropriate to the category.

Question

In Growth and Renewal areas, the key and accompanying text would set out suitable

5. Do you agree that Local Plans should be simplified in line with our proposals?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

development uses, as well as limitations on height and/or density as relevant. These could
be specified for sub-areas within each category, determined locally but having regard to
national policy, guidance and legislation (including the National Model Design Code and

Planning For The Future | 29

Proposal 2: Development management policies established at national
scale and an altered role for Local Plans.

This will significantly increase clarity for those wishing to bring forward development,
enabling automation of more binary considerations and allowing for a greater focus on
those areas where there is likely to be greater subjectivity.

With the primary focus of plan-making on identifying areas for development and protection,
Alternative options: Rather than removing the ability for local authorities to include general

to clear and necessary site or area-specific requirements, including broad height limits, scale

development management policies in Local Plans, we could limit the scope of such policies

and/or density limits for land included in Growth areas and Renewal areas, established

to specific matters and standardise the way they are written, where exceptional circumstances

through the accompanying text. The National Planning Policy Framework would become the

necessitate a locally-defined approach. Another alternative would be to allow local authorities

primary source of policies for development management; there would be no provision for

a similar level of flexibility to set development management policies as under the current

the inclusion of generic development management policies which simply repeat national

Local Plans system, with the exception that policies which duplicate the National Planning

policy within Local Plans, such as protections for listed buildings (although we are interested

Policy Framework would not be allowed.

50

we propose that development management policy contained in the plan would be restricted

in views on the future of optional technical standards). We propose to turn plans from long
lists of general “policies” to specific development standards.

Question

Local planning authorities and neighbourhoods (through Neighbourhood Plans) would play

6. Do you agree with our proposals for streamlining the development
management content of Local Plans, and setting out general
development management policies nationally?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

a crucial role in producing required design guides and codes to provide certainty and
reflect local character and preferences about the form and appearance of development.
This is important for making plans more visual and engaging. These could be produced
for a whole local authority area, or for a smaller area or site (as annotated in the Local Plan),
or a combination of both. Design guides and codes would ideally be produced on a ‘twin
planning documents.

Proposal 3: Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory “sustainable
development” test, replacing the existing tests of soundness.

We want to move to a position where all development management policies and code

This would consider whether the plan contributes to achieving sustainable development

requirements, at national, local and neighbourhood level, are written in a machine-readable

in accordance with policy issued by the Secretary of State. The achievement of sustainable

format so that wherever feasible, they can be used by digital services to automatically screen

development is an existing and well-understood basis for the planning system, and we

developments and help identify where they align with policies and/or codes.

propose that it should be retained.

track’ with the Local Plan, either for inclusion within the plan or prepared as supplementary

3 0 | Planning For The Future

“A simpler test, as well as more
streamlined plans, should
mean fewer requirements
for assessments that add
disproportionate delay to the
plan-making process. ”

The new-style digital Local Plan would also help local planning authorities to engage with

assessments that add disproportionate delay to the plan-making process.

strategic cross-boundary issues and use data-driven insights to assess local infrastructure needs

51

A simpler test, as well as more streamlined plans, should mean fewer requirements for

to help decide what infrastructure is needed and where it should be located.

Specifically:
• we propose to abolish the Sustainability Appraisal system and develop a simplified process

• Alternative option: Rather than removing the existing tests of soundness, an alternative

for assessing the environmental impact of plans, which would continue to satisfy the

option could be to reform them in order to make it easier for a suitable strategy to be found

requirements of UK and international law and treaties (see our proposals under Pillar Two);

sound. For example, the tests could become less prescriptive about the need to demonstrate

• the Duty to Cooperate test would be removed (although further consideration will be given
to the way in which strategic cross-boundary issues, such as major infrastructure or strategic

deliverability. Rather than demonstrating deliverability, local authorities could be required
to identify a stock of reserve sites which could come forward for development if needed.

sites, can be adequately planned for, including the scale at which plans are best prepared
in areas with significant strategic challenges); and
• a slimmed down assessment of deliverability for the plan would be incorporated into the
“sustainable development” test.
Plans should be informed by appropriate infrastructure planning, and sites should not be
included in the plan where there is no reasonable prospect of any infrastructure that may
be needed coming forward within the plan period. Plan-making policies in the National
Planning Policy Framework will make this clear.

Questions
7(a). Do you agree with our proposals to replace existing legal and policy tests
for Local Plans with a consolidated test of “sustainable development”,
which would include consideration of environmental impact?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
7(b). How could strategic, cross-boundary issues be best planned for in the
absence of a formal Duty to Cooperate?
Planning For The Future | 31

Proposal 4: A standard method for establishing housing requirement
figures which ensures enough land is released in the areas where
affordability is worst, to stop land supply being a barrier to enough
homes being built. The housing requirement would factor in land
constraints and opportunities to more effectively use land, including
through densification where appropriate, to ensure that the land is
identified in the most appropriate areas and housing targets are met.
Local Plans will need to identify areas to meet a range of development needs – such as homes,

• the extent of land constraints in an area to ensure that the requirement figure takes into
account the practical limitations that some areas might face, including the presence of
designated areas of environmental and heritage value, the Green Belt and flood risk. For
example, areas in National Parks are highly desirable and housing supply has not kept up
with demand; however, the whole purpose of National Parks would be undermined by
multiple large scale housing developments so a standard method should factor this in;
• t he opportunities to better use existing brownfield land for housing, including through greater
densification. The requirement figure will expect these opportunities to have been utilised
fully before land constraints are taken into account;
• t he need to make an allowance for land required for other (non-residential) development; and

needed to take advantage of local opportunities for economic growth, such as commercial

• inclusion of an appropriate buffer to ensure enough land is provided to account for the drop

52

businesses and community facilities – for a minimum period of 10 years. This includes land
space for spin-out companies near to university research and development facilities, or other

off rate between permissions and completions as well as offering sufficient choice to the market.

high productivity businesses.
The standard method would make it the responsibility of individual authorities to allocate
Debates about housing numbers tend to dominate this process, and a standard method for

land suitable for housing to meet the requirement, and they would continue to have choices

setting housing requirements would significantly reduce the time it takes to establish the

about how to do so: for example through more effective use of existing residential land,

amount of land to release in each area. This has historically been a time-consuming process

greater densification, infilling and brownfield redevelopment, extensions to existing urban

which ultimately has not led to enough land being released where it is most needed (as

areas, or new settlements. The existing policy for protecting the Green Belt would remain.

reflected by worsening affordability). A standard requirement would differ from the current

We also propose that it would be possible for authorities to agree an alternative distribution

system of local housing need in that it would be binding, and so drive greater land release.

of their requirement in the context of joint planning arrangements. In particular, it may be
appropriate for Mayors of combined authorities to oversee the strategic distribution of the

It is proposed that the standard method would be a means of distributing the national

requirement in a way that alters the distribution of numbers, and this would be allowed for.

housebuilding target of 300,000 new homes annually, and one million homes by the end
of the Parliament, having regard to:
• the size of existing urban settlements (so that development is targeted at areas that
can absorb the level of housing proposed);
• the relative affordability of places (so that the least affordable places where historic
under-supply has been most chronic take a greater share of future development);
3 2 | Planning For The Future

In the current system the combination of the five-year housing land supply requirement,
the Housing Delivery Test and the presumption in favour of sustainable development act
as a check to ensure that enough land comes into the system. Our proposed approach
should ensure that enough land is planned for, and with sufficient certainty about its
availability for development, to avoid a continuing requirement to be able to demonstrate

a five-year supply of land. However, having enough land supply in the system does not
guarantee that it will be delivered, and so we propose to maintain the Housing Delivery Test
and the presumption in favour of sustainable development as part of the new system.
Alternative option: It would be possible to leave the calculation of how much land to include
in each category to local decision, but with a clear stipulation in policy that this should be
sufficient to address the development needs of each area (so far as possible subject to
recognised constraints), taking into account market signals indicating the degree to which

53

existing needs are not being met. As now, a standard method could be retained to underpin
this approach in relation to housing; and it would be possible to make changes to the

Questions
8(a). Do you agree that a standard method for establishing housing
requirements (that takes into account constraints) should be introduced?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
8(b). Do you agree that affordability and the extent of existing urban areas are
appropriate indicators of the quantity of development to be accommodated?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

current approach that ensure that meeting minimum need is given greater weight to make
sure sufficient land comes forward. However, we do not think that this approach would carry
the same benefits of clarity and simplicity as our preferred option, and would also require
additional safeguards to ensure that adequate land remains available, especially once the
assessment of housing need has been translated into housing requirements. We would,
therefore, propose to retain a five-year housing land supply requirement with this approach.
We have published a separate consultation on proposed changes to the standard method
for assessing local housing need which is currently used in the process of establishing
housing requirement figures. The future application of the formula proposed in the revised
standard method consultation will be considered in the context of the proposals set out
here. In particular, the methodology does not yet adjust for the land constraints, including
Green Belt. We will consider further the options for doing this and welcome proposals.

Planning For The Future | 33

A STREAMLINED DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCESS
WITH AUTOMATIC PLANNING PERMISSION FOR SCHEMES
IN LINE WITH PLANS
Proposal 5: Areas identified as Growth areas (suitable for substantial
development) would automatically be granted outline planning
permission for the principle of development, while automatic approvals
would also be available for pre-established development types in other
areas suitable for building.

54

There will therefore be no need to submit a further planning application to test whether the

route to secure consents. Similarly, we will consider how the planning powers for
Development Corporations can be reformed to reflect this new framework.
In areas suitable for development (Renewal areas), there would be a general presumption in
favour of development established in legislation (achieved by strengthening the emphasis on
taking a plan-led approach, with plans reflecting the general appropriateness of these areas
for development). Consent for development would be granted in one of three ways:
• for pre-specified forms of development such as the redevelopment of certain building
types, through a new permission route which gives an automatic consent if the scheme
meets design and other prior approval requirements (as discussed further under the
fast-track to beauty proposals set out under Pillar Two);

site can be approved. Where the Local Plan has identified land for development, planning

• for other types of development, a faster planning application process where a planning

decisions should focus on resolving outstanding issues – not the principle of development.

application for the development would be determined in the context of the Local Plan
description, for what development the area or site is appropriate for, and with reference

In areas suitable for substantial development (Growth areas) an outline permission for the
principle of development would be conferred by adoption of the Local Plan. Further details

to the National Planning Policy Framework; or
• a Local or Neighbourhood Development Order.

would be agreed and full permission achieved through streamlined and faster consent
routes which focus on securing good design and addressing site-specific technical issues.

In both the Growth and Renewal areas it would still be possible for a proposal which is
different to the plan to come forward (if, for example, local circumstances had changed

Detailed planning permission could be secured in one of three ways:

suddenly, or an unanticipated opportunity arose), but this would require a specific planning

• a reformed reserved matters process for agreeing the issues which remain outstanding;

application. We expect this to be the exception rather than the rule: to improve certainty in

• a Local Development Order prepared by the local planning authority for the development

the system, it will be important for everyone to have confidence that the plan will be the

which could be prepared in parallel with the Local Plan and be linked to a master plan and

basis for decisions, and so we intend to strengthen the emphasis on a plan-led approach in

design codes; or

legislation (alongside giving appropriate status to national planning policy for general

• for exceptionally large sites such as a new town where there are often land assembly and
planning challenges, we also want to explore whether a Development Consent Order
under the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects regime could be an appropriate
3 4 | Planning For The Future

development management matters).

In areas where development is restricted (Protected areas) any development proposals would
come forward as now through planning applications being made to the local authority (except
where they are subject to permitted development rights or development orders), and judged
against policies set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.
We will consider the most effective means for neighbours and other interested parties to
address any issues of concern where, under this system, the principle of development has
been established leaving only detailed matters to be resolved.

55

Separate to these reforms, we also intend to consolidate other existing routes to permission
which have accumulated over time, including simplified planning zones, enterprise zones and
brownfield land registers.

Questions
9(a). Do you agree that there should be automatic outline permission
for areas for substantial development (Growth areas) with faster
routes for detailed consent?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
9(b). Do you agree with our proposals above for the consent
arrangements for Renewal and Protected areas?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
9(c). Do you think there is a case for allowing new settlements
to be brought forward under the Nationally Significant
Infrastructure Projects regime?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

The route to full planning permission should
follow clearly and directly from the designation
made in the Local Plan.
Planning For The Future | 35

56
Proposal 6: Decision-making should be faster and more certain, with firm
deadlines, and make greater use of digital technology

local planning authorities. In particular, the validation of applications should be integrated with

For all types of planning applications regardless of the category of land, we want to see a much

for modernising planning systems in local government;

more streamlined and digitally enabled end to end process which is proportionate to the scale

the submission of the application so that the right information is provided at the start of the
process. For Spending Review, the Government will prepare a specific, investable proposal
• a new, more modular, software landscape to encourage digital innovation and provide access

and nature of the development proposed, to ensure decisions are made faster. The well-

to underlying data. This will help automate routine processes, such as knowing whether new

established time limits of eight or 13 weeks for determining an application from validation

applications are within the rules, which will support faster and more certain decision-making.

to decision should be a firm deadline – not an aspiration which can be got around through

We will work with tech companies and local planning authorities to modernise the software

extensions of time as routinely happens now.

used for case-managing a planning application to improve the user-experience for those
applying and reduce the errors and costs currently experienced by planning authorities;

To achieve this, we propose:

• shorter and more standardised applications. The amount of key information required as part

• the greater digitalisation of the application process to make it easier for applicants, especially

of the application should be reduced considerably and made machine-readable. A national

those proposing smaller developments, to have certainty when they apply and engage with

data standard for smaller applications should be created. For major development, beyond

3 6 | Planning For The Future

relevant drawings and plans, there should only be one key standardised planning statement

appeals process is faster, with the Inspectorate more digitally responsive and flexible. And to

of no more than 50 pages to justify the development proposals in relation to the Local Plan

promote proper consideration of applications by planning committees, where applications are

and National Planning Policy Framework;

refused, we propose that applicants will be entitled to an automatic rebate of their planning

• data-rich planning application registers will be created so that planning application

application fee if they are successful at appeal.

information can be easily found and monitored at a national scale, and new digital services
can be built to help people use this data in innovative ways;
• data sets that underpin the planning system, including planning decisions and developer
contributions, need to be standardised and made open and digitally accessible;
• a digital template for planning notices will be created so that planning application
information can be more effectively communicated and understood by local communities
and used by new digital services;

Question
10. Do you agree with our proposals to make decision-making faster
and more certain?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

• greater standardisation of technical supporting information, for instance about local highway
impacts, flood risk and heritage matters. We envisage design codes will help to reduce the
need for significant supplementary information, but we recognise there may still need to
be site specific information to mitigate wider impacts. For these issues, there should be clear
national data standards and templates developed in conjunction with statutory consultees;

57

• clearer and more consistent planning conditions, with standard national conditions to cover
common issues;

• a streamlined approach to developer contributions, which is discussed further under Pillar Three;
• the delegation of detailed planning decisions to planning officers where the principle of
development has been established, as detailed matters for consideration should be principally
a matter for professional planning judgment.
We also believe there should be a clear incentive on the local planning authority to determine
an application within the statutory time limits. This could involve the automatic refund of the
planning fee for the application if they fail to determine it within the time limit. But we also
want to explore whether some types of applications should be deemed to have been granted
planning permission if there has not been a timely determination, to ensure targets are met
and local authorities keep to the time limit in the majority of cases. We particularly want to
ensure that the facilities and infrastructure that communities value, such as schools, hospitals
and GP surgeries, are delivered quickly through the planning system.
There will remain a power to call in decisions by the Secretary of State and for applicants to
appeal against a decision by a local planning authority. However, by ensuring greater certainty
about the principle of development in Local Plans, we expect to see fewer appeals being
considered by the Planning Inspectorate. For those that do go to appeal, we want to ensure the
Planning For The Future | 37

A NEW INTERACTIVE, WEB-BASED MAP STANDARD FOR
PLANNING DOCUMENTS
Planning documentation should reflect this simplified role for Local Plans and should support
community engagement.

Proposal 7: Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised,
based on the latest digital technology, and supported by a new template.
Interactive, map-based Local Plans will be built upon data standards and digital principles. To

58

support local authorities in developing plans in this new format, we will publish a guide to the
new Local Plan system and data standards and digital principles, including clearer expectations
around the more limited evidence that will be expected to support “sustainable” Local Plans,
accompanied by a “model” template for Local Plans and subsequent updates, well in advance
of the legislation being brought into force. This will support standardisation of Local Plans across
the country. The text-based component of plans should be limited to spatially-specific matters
and capable of being accessible in a range of different formats, including through simple digital
services on a smartphone.
To support open access to planning documents and improve public engagement in the plan-

planning policies to be created so that new digital services can be built using this data, and this

making process, plans should be fully digitised and web-based following agreed web standards

will also enable any existing or future mapping platforms to access and visualise Local Plans.

rather than document based. This will allow for any updates to be published instantaneously and

This will make it easier for anyone to identify what can be built where. The data will be accessed

makes it easier to share across all parties and the wider public. Those digital plans should be

by software used across the public sector and also by external PropTech entrepreneurs to

carefully designed with the user in mind and to ensure inclusivity, so that they can be accessed in

improve transparency, decision-making and productivity in the sector. There should also be a

different formats, on different devices, and are accessible and understandable by all. Geospatial

long-term aim for any data produced to support Local Plans to be open and accessible online in

information associated with plans, such as sites and areas, should also be standardised and

machine-readable format and linked to the relevant policies and areas.

made openly available online. Taken together, these changes will enable a digital register of
3 8 | Planning For The Future

By shifting plan-making processes from documents to data, new digital civic engagement
processes will be enabled, making it easier for people to understand what is being proposed
where and how it will affect them. These tools have the potential to transform how communities
engage with Local Plans, opening up new ways for people to feed their views into the system,
including through social networks and via mobile phones. Early pilots from local planning
authorities using emerging digital civic engagement tools have shown increased public
participation from a broader audience, with one PropTech SME reporting that 70% of their
users are under the age of 45.18

59

To encourage this step-change, we want to support local authorities to radically rethink how they
produce their Local Plans, and profoundly re-invent the ambition, depth and breadth with which
they engage with communities. We will set up a series of pilots to work with local authorities and
tech companies (the emerging ‘PropTech’ sector) to develop innovative solutions to support
plan-making activities and make community involvement more accessible and engaging. This
could include measures to improve access to live information and data or the use of 3D
visualisations and other tools to support good community engagement.

Question
11. Do you agree with our proposals for accessible, web-based
Local Plans?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future | 39

A STREAMLINED, MORE ENGAGING PLAN-MAKING PROCESS
The average time taken from plan publication to adoption rose from an average of 450 days
in 2009 to 815 days in 2019. There is currently no statutory requirement around timescales
for key stages of the plan-making process.

Proposal 8: Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be
required through legislation to meet a statutory timetable for key
stages of the process, and we will consider what sanctions there
would be for those who fail to do so.

60

Under the current system, it regularly takes over a decade for development sites to go through
the Local Plan process and receive outline permission. Under our proposals, this would be
shortened to 30 months, although we expect many local authorities could do this in a shorter

• Stage 3 [6 weeks]: The local planning authority simultaneously
(i) submits the Plan to the Secretary of State for Examination together with a Statement
of Reasons to explain why it has drawn up its plan as it has; and
(ii) publicises the plan for the public to comment on. Comments seeking change must explain

time and we would encourage them to do so where this is practicable. We propose that the

how the plan should be changed and why. Again, this process would embody ‘best in class’

process covers five stages, with meaningful public engagement at two stages:

ways of ensuring public involvement. Responses will have a word count limit.

• Stage 1 [6 months]: The local planning authority “calls for” suggestions for areas under the

• Stage 4 [9 months]: A planning inspector appointed by the Secretary of State considers whether

three categories, including comprehensive “best in class” ways of achieving public involvement

the three categories shown in the proposed Local Plan are “sustainable” as per the statutory test

at this plan-shaping stage for where development should go and what it should look like.

and accompanying national guidance and makes binding changes which are necessary to satisfy
the test. The plan-making authority and all those who submitted comments would have the right

• Stage 2 [12 months]: The local planning authority draws up its proposed Local Plan, and

to be “heard” by the inspector (whether face to face, by video, phone or in writing –all at the

produces any necessary evidence to inform and justify the plan. “Higher-risk” authorities will

inspector’s discretion). The inspector’s report can, as relevant, simply state agreement with the

receive mandatory Planning Inspectorate advisory visits, in order to ensure the plan is on track

whole or parts of the council’s Statement of Reasons, and/or comments submitted by the public.

prior to submission.
• Stage 5 [6 weeks]: Local Plan map, key and text are finalised, and come into force.

4 0 | Planning For The Future

Taken together, the effect of these reforms would be to greatly simplify and shorten the plan-making

Alternative options: The existing examination process could be reformed in order to speed up

and development process, ensuring more land comes through the system and does so at pace.

the process. For instance, the automatic ‘right to be heard’ could be removed so that participants
are invited to appear at hearings at the discretion of the inspector. Certain Local Plans, that are

To support the transition to the new system, we propose a statutory duty for local authorities to

less complex or controversial, could also be examined through written representations only,

adopt a new Local Plan by a specified date – either 30 months from the legislation being brought

as is usually the case with Neighbourhood Plans at present.

into force, or 42 months for local planning authorities who have adopted a Local Plan within the
A further alternative could be to remove the Examination stage entirely, instead requiring

examination. In the latter case, the 42 month period would commence from the point at which

Local Planning Authorities to undertake a process of self-assessment against set criteria and

the legislation is brought into force, or upon adoption of the most recent plan, whichever is later.

guidance. To supplement this, the Planning Inspectorate could be utilised to audit a certain

61

previous three years or where a Local Plan has been submitted to the Secretary of State for

number of completed plans each year in order to assess whether the requirements of the

This should be accompanied by a requirement for each planning authority to review its Local Plan

statutory sustainability test had been met. However, there is a risk that this option wouldn’t

at least every five years. Reviews should be undertaken sooner than five years where there has

provide sufficient scrutiny around whether plans meet the necessary legal and policy tests.

been a significant change in circumstances, for instance where issues with land supply have been
identified through regular monitoring. Where a review concludes that an update is required, then
the same 30-month deadline would apply although there would be an expectation that in many
cases an update could be completed more quickly.
Local planning authorities that fail to do what is required to get their plan in place, or keep it up
to date, would be at risk of government intervention. A range of intervention options will be

Question
12. Do you agree with our proposals for a 30 month statutory timescale
for the production of Local Plans?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

available, including the issuing of directions and preparation of a plan in consultation with local
people. Decisions on intervention would also have regard to:
• the level of housing requirement in the area;
• the planning context of the area, including any co-operation to get plans in place across local
planning authority boundaries;
• any exceptional circumstances presented by the local planning authority.

Planning For The Future | 41

Proposal 9: Neighbourhood Plans should be retained as an important
means of community input, and we will support communities to make
better use of digital tools
Since statutory Neighbourhood Plans became part of the system in 2011, over 2,600
communities have started the process of neighbourhood planning to take advantage
of the opportunity to prepare a plan for their own areas – and over 1,000 plans have been
successfully passed at referendum. They have become an important tool in helping to ‘bring
the democracy forward’ in planning, by allowing communities to think proactively about how
they would like their areas to develop.

62

Therefore, we think Neighbourhood Plans should be retained in the reformed planning
system, but we will want to consider whether their content should become more focused to
reflect our proposals for Local Plans, as well as the opportunities which digital tools and data
offer to support their development and improve accessibility for users. By making it easier to
develop Neighbourhood Plans we wish to encourage their continued use and indeed to help
spread their use further, particularly in towns and cities. We are also interested in whether
there is scope to extend and adapt the concept so that very small areas – such as individual
streets – can set their own rules for the form of development which they are happy to see.
Digital tools have significant potential to assist the process of Neighbourhood Plan production,
including through new digital co-creation platforms and 3D visualisation technologies to
explore proposals within the local context. We will develop pilot projects and data standards
which help neighbourhood planning groups make the most of this potential.

4 2 | Planning For The Future

SPEEDING UP THE DELIVERY OF DEVELOPMENT
Our plans for a simpler and faster planning process need to be accompanied by a stronger
emphasis on the faster delivery of development, especially for Growth areas where substantial
development has been permitted. If local communities through the new Local Plan process
have identified sites for substantial development over the next ten years and developers have
secured planning consents, there should be a presumption that these sites will be built out
quickly. But as Rt. Hon. Sir Oliver Letwin found in his Independent Review of Build Out Rates in

63

2018, the build out of large residential developments can be slow due to low market absorption
rates, with some sites taking over 20 years to complete.

Proposal 10: A stronger emphasis on build out through planning
To address this, we propose to make it clear in the revised National Planning Policy Framework
that the masterplans and design codes for sites prepared for substantial development
(discussed under Pillar Two) should seek to include a variety of development types by different

Questions
13(a). Do you agree that Neighbourhood Plans should be retained
in the reformed planning system?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
13(b). How can the neighbourhood planning process be developed
to meet our objectives, such as in the use of digital tools and
reflecting community preferences about design?

builders which allow more phases to come forward together. We will explore further options to
support faster build out as we develop our proposals for the new planning system.

Question
14. Do you agree there should be a stronger emphasis on the build
out of developments? And if so, what further measures would
you support?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future | 43

Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful
and sustainable places
Overview
We have set out how a simpler planning process could improve certainty about what can
be built where, as well as offering greater flexibility in the use of land to meet our changing
economic and social needs. But improving the process of planning is only the starting point
– we want to ensure that we have a system in place that enables the creation of beautiful
places that will stand the test of time, protects and enhances our precious environment,
and supports our efforts to combat climate change and bring greenhouse gas emissions
to net-zero by 2050. Recent research from the Royal Town Planning Institute has set out
the vital contribution that planning can make to a sustainable and inclusive recovery.12

64

To do this, planning should be a powerful tool for creating visions of how places can be,
engaging communities in that process and fostering high quality development: not just
beautiful buildings, but the gardens, parks and other green spaces in between, as well as
the facilities which are essential for building a real sense of community. It should generate
net gains for the quality of our built and natural environments - not just ‘no net harm’.
As the report of the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission has shown, all too often
that potential has fallen short. Too many places built during recent decades fail to reflect
what is special about their local area or create a high quality environment of which local
people can be proud. The Commission has played an invaluable role not just in highlighting
the deficiencies, but in setting out a wide range of recommendations for addressing them.
We will respond fully to the Commission’s report in the autumn, but there are important
aspects that we want to highlight now, as being integral to our proposals for what a revised
planning system can achieve.

4 4 | Planning For The Future

Questions
15. What do you think about the design of new development that has
happened recently in your area?
[Not sure or indifferent / Beautiful and/or well-designed / Ugly and/
or poorly-designed / There hasn’t been any / Other – please specify]
16. Sustainability is at the heart of our proposals. What is your priority
for sustainability in your area?
[Less reliance on cars / More green and open spaces / Energy
efficiency of new buildings / More trees / Other – please specify]

As the report of the Building Better,
Building Beautiful Commission has
shown, all too often that potential
has fallen short.

65

Proposals
CREATING FRAMEWORKS FOR QUALITY
To deliver our vision, it is important for the planning system to set clear expectations for the
form of development which we expect to see in different locations. It should do so in ways
which reflect local character and community preferences, and the types of buildings and
places that have stood the test of time; but it should also address modern lifestyles, facilitate
modern methods of construction (and its associated benefits for efficiency, build quality and
the environment) and the need to create places that are both durable and sustainable.

66

History provides many examples of how we can do this well – including Georgian terraces
and Victorian mansion blocks – and we should learn from what has worked in the past.
Our National Design Guide, published in October last year, illustrates how well-designed
places that are beautiful, enduring and successful can be achieved in practice. It is a vital
starting point, defining ten characteristics of successful places and the ingredients which
can deliver these. However, to provide as much clarity as possible for applicants and
communities and provide the basis for ‘fast-tracking’ decisions on design, broad principles
need to be turned into more specific standards.
To address this challenge, this autumn we will publish a National Model Design Code to
supplement the guide, setting out more detailed parameters for development in different
types of location: issues such as the arrangement and proportions of streets and urban
blocks, positioning and hierarchy of public spaces, successful parking arrangements,
placement of street trees, and high quality cycling and walking provision, in line with
our wider vision for cycling and walking in England.13 It will be accompanied by worked

examples, and complement a revised and consolidated Manual for Streets.
4 6 | Planning For The Future

To deliver our vision, it is important for the planning system
to set clear expectations for the form of development
which we expect to see in different locations.

67

Proposal 11: To make design expectations more visual and predictable,
we will expect design guidance and codes to be prepared locally with
community involvement, and ensure that codes are more binding on
decisions about development.
As national guidance, we will expect the National Design Guide, National Model Design
Code and the revised Manual for Streets to have a direct bearing on the design of new
communities. But to ensure that schemes reflect the diverse character of our country, as well
as what is provably popular locally, it is important that local guides and codes are prepared
wherever possible. These play the vital role of translating the basic characteristics of good

68

places into what works locally, and can already be brought forward in a number of ways:
by local planning authorities to supplement and add a visual dimension to their Local Plans;
through the work of neighbourhood planning groups; or by applicants in bringing forward
proposals for significant new areas of development.
We propose that these different routes for bringing forward design guides and codes
should remain, although in all cases it will be essential that they are prepared with effective
inputs from the local community, considering empirical evidence of what is popular and
characteristic in the local area. To underpin the importance of this, we intend to make
clear that designs and codes should only be given weight in the planning process if they
can demonstrate that this input has been secured. And, where this is the case, we will also
make clear that decisions on design should be made in line with these documents. Where
locally-produced guides and codes are not in place, we also propose to make clear in policy
that the National Design Guide, National Model Design Code and Manual for Streets should
guide decisions on the form of development.

4 8 | Planning For The Future

Question
17. Do you agree with our proposals for improving the production and
use of design guides and codes?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
architecture and design centres. Whatever model is adopted, we envisage that it would be
able to draw on the expertise of recognised experts with a range of skills, drawn from across

to the National Planning Policy Framework that can support the planning system’s role in

the built environment sector. Should the final proposals lead to the creation of new central

fostering better buildings, places and settlements, and we will consult on changes which

government arm’s-length body, then the usual, separate government approval process

reflect these recommendations in the autumn.

would apply for such entities.

69

The Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission recommended several other changes

Proposal 12: To support the transition to a planning system which is
more visual and rooted in local preferences and character, we will set
up a body to support the delivery of provably locally-popular design
codes, and propose that each authority should have a chief officer for
design and place-making.

We will also bring forward proposals later this year for improving the resourcing of planning
departments more broadly; and our suggestions in this paper for streamlining plan-making
will allow some re-focusing of professional skills. However, effective leadership within
authorities will also be crucial. To drive a strong vision for what each place aspires to,
and ensure this is integrated across council functions, we believe that each authority should
appoint a chief officer for design and place-making, as recommended by the Building Better,

The vision which we have set out will require a step-change in the design skills available to many

Building Beautiful Commission.

local planning authorities, as well as the right prioritisation and leadership across the sector.
We recognise that this will not happen overnight, and that authorities will need support.
WWe will explore the options for establishing a new expert body which can help authorities
make effective use of design guidance and codes, as well as performing a wider monitoring
and challenge role for the sector in building better places. Different models exist for how
this could be taken forward - such as a new arms-length body reporting to Government, a
new centre of expertise within Homes England, or reinforcing the existing network of

Question
18. Do you agree that we should establish a new body to support
design coding and building better places, and that each authority
should have a chief officer for design and place-making?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Planning For The Future | 49

Proposal 13: To further embed national leadership on delivering better
places, we will consider how Homes England’s strategic objectives can
give greater emphasis to delivering beautiful places.
We are committed to taking a leadership role in the delivery of beautiful and well-designed
homes and places, which embed high environmental standards. The Building Better, Building
Beautiful Commission recommended that Homes England should attach sufficient value to
design as well as price, and give greater weight to design quality in its work.
The Government supports this recommendation and recognises that the work of Homes

70

England is an important route through which we can lead by example. Homes England have
already taken steps to champion design quality in their land disposals programme, through
implementation of a design quality assessment approach, with a minimum standard which
must be achieved for a proposal to progress.
However, we recognise that there is an opportunity to go further, and we will engage Homes
England, as part of the forthcoming Spending Review process, to consider how its objectives
might be strengthened to give greater weight to design quality, and assess how design quality
and environmental standards can be more deeply embedded in all Homes England’s activities
and programmes of work.

5 0 | Planning For The Future

Question
19. Do you agree with our proposal to consider how design
might be given greater emphasis in the strategic objectives
for Homes England?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

The vision which we have set out will require a step-change in the
design skills available to many local planning authorities, as well
as the right prioritisation and leadership across the sector.

71

A FAST-TRACK FOR BEAUTY

These masterplans and codes could be prepared by the local planning authority alongside

One of the important propositions of the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission is

and key principles to be established. For example, a set of simple ‘co-ordinating codes’

that there should be a ‘fast-track for beauty’. Where proposals come forward which comply

of the sort endorsed by the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission could set some

with pre-established principles of what good design looks like (informed by community

initial key parameters for the site layout. Where sites are expected to come forward in the

preferences), then it should be possible to expedite development through the planning

near future, more developed masterplans or codes, prepared by the local planning authority

process. This should incentivise attractive and popular development, as well as helping to

or site promoter, will provide greater certainty.

or subsequent to preparing its plan, at a level of detail commensurate with the size of site

relieve pressure on planning authorities when assessing proposals.

72

Proposal 14: We intend to introduce a fast-track for beauty through
changes to national policy and legislation, to incentivise and accelerate
high quality development which reflects local character and preferences.

Third, we also propose to legislate to widen and change the nature of permitted
development, so that it enables popular and replicable forms of development to be
approved easily and quickly, helping to support ‘gentle intensification’ of our towns and
cities, but in accordance with important design principles. There is a long history – in this
country and elsewhere – of ‘pattern books’ being used to articulate standard building types,

We propose to do this in three ways. In the first instance, through updating the National

options and associated rules (such as heights and set-backs). They have helped to deliver

Planning Policy Framework, we will make clear that schemes which comply with local design

some of our most popular and successful places, and in a way which makes it relatively easy

guides and codes have a positive advantage and greater certainty about their prospects

for smaller development companies to enter the market. We want to revive this tradition,

of swift approval.

in areas suitable for development (Renewal areas), by allowing the pre-approval of popular
and replicable designs through permitted development. The benefits are much more than

Second, where plans identify areas for significant development (Growth areas), we will

fast delivery of proven popular designs – it will foster innovation and support

legislate to require that a masterplan and site-specific code are agreed as a condition

industrialisation of housebuilding, enabling modern methods of construction to be

of the permission in principle which is granted through the plan. This should be in place

developed and deployed at scale.

prior to detailed proposals coming forward, to direct and expedite those detailed matters.

5 2 | Planning For The Future

One of the central propositions of the
Building Better, Building Beautiful
Commission is that there should be
a ‘fast-track for beauty’.

73

To take this approach forward, we intend to develop a limited set of form-based development
types that allow the redevelopment of existing residential buildings where the relevant
conditions are satisfied – enabling increased densities while maintaining visual harmony
in a range of common development settings (such as semi-detached suburban development).
These would benefit from permitted development rights relating to the settings in which they
apply. Prior approval from the local planning authority would still be needed for aspects of the
design to ensure the development is right for its context (such as materials), as well as for
other important planning considerations such as avoidance of flood risk and securing safe
access. To enable further tailoring of these patterns to local character and preferences,
we also propose that local planning authorities or neighbourhood planning groups would be

74

able to use local orders to modify how the standard types apply in their areas, based on local
evidence of what options are most popular with the wider public.
This proposal will require some technical development and testing, so we will develop a pilot
programme to test the concept. Where we are taking forward existing schemes to expand
the scope of permitted development through upwards extensions and demolition/rebuilding,
we also intend to legislate so that prior approval for exercising such rights takes into account
design codes which are in place locally (or, in the absence of these, the National Model
Design Code).

Question
20. Do you agree with our proposals for implementing a fast-track
for beauty?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

5 4 | Planning For The Future

75

EFFECTIVE STEWARDSHIP AND ENHANCEMENT OF OUR NATURAL
AND HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT
The reformed planning system will continue to protect the places of environmental and cultural
value which matter to us. Plans will still play a vital role in identifying not just areas of defined
national and international importance (such as National Parks and Sites of Special Scientific
Interest), but also those which are valued and defined locally (such as Conservation Areas and
Local Wildlife Sites).
However, the planning system can and should do much more than this. In line with the ambitions

76

in our 25 Year Environment Plan, we want the reformed system to play a proactive role in
promoting environmental recovery and long-term sustainability. In doing so, it needs to play a
strong part in our efforts to mitigate and adapt to climate change and reduce pollution as well as
making our towns and cities more liveable through enabling more and better green spaces and
tree cover. Several initiatives are already laying the foundations for this. Nationally, the
Environment Bill currently before Parliament will legislate for mandatory net gains for biodiversity
as a condition of most new development. And the Local Nature Recovery Strategies which it will
also introduce will identify opportunities to secure enhancements through development schemes
and contributions. We will also deliver our commitment to make all new streets tree-lined, by
setting clear expectations through the changes to the National Planning Policy Framework which
will be consulted on in the autumn, and informed by the outcome of this summer’s consultation
on the England Tree Strategy.14 And we are also assessing the extent to which our planning
policies and processes for managing flood risk may need to be strengthened along with
developing a national framework of green infrastructure standards.
Once the proposals in this paper for reformed Local Plans begin to be implemented, it will be
important for authorities to consider how the identification of different categories of land, and any
5 6 | Planning For The Future

sub-areas within them, can most effectively support climate change mitigation and adaptation.
For example, in identifying land for inclusion within the Growth area, or the densities of
development appropriate in different locations, the ability to maximise walking, cycling and
public transport opportunities will be an important consideration.

77

Proposal 15: We intend to amend the National Planning Policy
Framework to ensure that it targets those areas where a reformed
planning system can most effectively play a role in mitigating and
adapting to climate change and maximising environmental benefits.
These measures, and reform of our policy framework, provide important opportunities to
strengthen the way that environmental issues are considered through the planning system.
However, we also think there is scope to marry these changes with a simpler, effective
approach to assessing environmental impacts.
In doing so, we will want to be clear about the role that local, spatially-specific policies can
continue to play, such as in identifying important views, opportunities to improve public
access or places where renewable energy or woodland and forestry creation could be
accommodated. In reviewing the Framework, we will also want to ensure that it provides a
clear and robust basis for development management decisions more generally, so that
reliance no longer needs to be placed on generic policies contained in Local Plans.

Proposal 16: We intend to design a quicker, simpler framework for
assessing environmental impacts and enhancement opportunities,
that speeds up the process while protecting and enhancing the most
valuable and important habitats and species in England.

Planning For The Future | 57

It is vital that environmental considerations are considered properly as part of the planning and
development process. However, the current frameworks for doing so – which include Strategic
Environmental Assessment, Sustainability Appraisal, and Environmental Impact Assessment –
can lead to duplication of effort and overly-long reports which inhibit transparency and add
unnecessary delays. Outside of the European Union, it is also important that we take the
opportunity to strengthen protections that make the biggest difference to species, habitats and
ecosystems of national importance, and that matter the most to local communities.
To succeed, a new system will need to meet several objectives:
• Processes for environmental assessment and mitigation need to be quicker and speed
up decision-making and the delivery of development projects. The environmental aspects
of a plan or project should be considered early in the process, and to clear timescales.
National and local level data, made available to authorities, communities and applicants
in digital form, should make it easier to re-use and update information and reduce the
need for site-specific surveys.
• Requirements for environmental assessment and mitigation need to be simpler to understand
and consolidated in one place so far as possible, so that the same impacts and opportunities

78

do not need to be considered twice.

• Any new system will need to ensure that we take advantage of opportunities for environmental
improvements while also meeting our domestic and international obligations for environmental
protection. This will be the subject of a separate and more detailed consultation in the autumn.

Proposal 17: Conserving and enhancing our historic buildings and areas
in the 21st century.
The planning system has played a critical role ensuring the historic buildings and areas we cherish
are conserved and, where appropriate, enhanced by development. The additional statutory
protections of listed building consent and conservation area status have worked well, and the
National Planning Policy Framework already sets out strong protections for heritage assests where
planning permission or listed building consent is needed. We want to build on this framework as
we develop the new planning system. We envisage that Local Plans will clearly identify the location
of internationally, nationally and locally designated heritage assets, such as World Heritage Sites
and conservation areas, as well locally important features such as protected views.

5 8 | Planning For The Future

We also want to ensure our historic buildings play a central part in the renewal of our cities,
towns and villages. Many will need to be adapted to changing uses and to respond to new
challenges, such as mitigating and adapting to climate change. We particularly want to see
more historical buildings have the right energy efficiency measures to support our zero
carbon objectives. Key to this will be ensuring the planning consent framework is sufficiently
responsive to sympathetic changes, and timely and informed decisions are made.
We will, therefore, review and update the planning framework for listed buildings and
conservation areas, to ensure their significance is conserved while allowing, where appropriate,
sympathetic changes to support their continued use and address climate change. In doing so,
we want to explore whether there are new and better ways of securing consent for routine
works, to enable local planning authorities to concentrate on conserving and enhancing the
most important historic buildings. This includes exploring whether suitably experienced
architectural specialists can have earned autonomy from routine listed building consents.

79

Proposal 18: To complement our planning reforms, we will facilitate
ambitious improvements in the energy efficiency standards for buildings
to help deliver our world-leading commitment to net-zero by 2050.
The planning system is only one of the tools that we need to use to mitigate and adapt to climate
change. Last year we consulted on our proposals to move towards a Future Homes Standard,
which was a first step towards net zero homes. From 2025, we expect new homes to produce
75-80 per cent lower CO2 emissions compared to current levels. These homes will be ‘zero carbon
ready’, with the ability to become fully zero carbon homes over time as the electricity grid
decarbonises, without the need for further costly retrofitting work.
We welcome the Committee on Climate Change’s response to the consultation and we have
considered the points they raised. We will respond to the Future Homes Standard consultation in

accountable for the actions that they are taking, and the consultation response will look to clarify

full in the autumn. As part of this, we intend to review the roadmap to the Future Homes Standard

the role that they can play in setting energy efficiency standards for new build developments.

to ensure that implementation takes place to the shortest possible timeline. Our ambition is that
homes built under our new planning system will not need retrofitting in the future. To work towards

We will also want to ensure that high standards for the design, environmental performance and

ensuring that all new homes are fit for a zero carbon future we will also explore options for the

safety of new and refurbished buildings are monitored and enforced. As local authorities are freed

future of energy efficiency standards, beyond 2025.

from many planning obligations through our reforms, they will be able to reassign resources and
focus more fully on enforcement. Ensuring that planning standards and building regulations are

All levels of Government have a role to play in meeting our net zero goal, and Local Authorities are

met, whether for new homes or for retrofitting old homes, will help to ensure that we deliver

rising to this challenge. Local Planning Authorities, as well as central Government, should be

homes that are fit for the future and cheaper to run.
Planning For The Future | 59

Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and
connected places
Overview

successfully. This unevenness is a problem too for local authorities, with significant variation
in skill and negotiation in negotiating viability across authorities.

New development brings with it new demand for public services and infrastructure.
Mitigating these impacts – by securing contributions from developers and capturing more

The Community Infrastructure Levy addresses many of these problems as it is a flat-rate and

land value uplift generated by planning decisions to deliver new infrastructure provision – is

non-negotiable tariff, and developers and local authorities have, in general, welcomed the

key for both new and existing communities. It is also central to our vision for renewal of the

certainty it brings. However, as payment is set at the point planning permission is granted,

planning system.

and payment due once development commences, it is inflexible in the face of changing
market conditions. Payment before a single home has been built increases the developer’s
risk and cost of finance, creating cashflow challenges which are more acute for smaller

contributions, both of which are discretionary for authorities: planning obligations and the

developers. And despite early payment, many local authorities have been slow to spend

Community Infrastructure Levy. Planning obligations – through Section 106 agreements – are

Community Infrastructure Levy revenue on early infrastructure delivery, reflecting factors

negotiated with developers, and in 2018/19 were worth a total of £7bn, of which £4.7bn was

including indecision, competing spending priorities, and uncertainty over other

in the form of affordable housing contributions – supporting delivery of 30,000 affordable

infrastructure funding streams.

80

At present, there are two broad routes for local planning authorities to secure developer

homes. In contrast, the Community Infrastructure Levy is a fixed charge, levied on the area
(floorspace) of new development, and secures infrastructure that addresses the cumulative

Securing necessary infrastructure and affordable housing alongside new development is

impact of development in an area. The Community Infrastructure Levy is not mandatory for

central to our vision for the planning system. We want to bring forward reforms to make sure

local planning authorities, and around half of authorities currently charge it. Levy rates are

that developer contributions are:

discretionary, established by assessments of infrastructure need and viability.

•	responsive to local needs, to ensure a fairer contribution from developers for local

There are several problems with this system. Planning obligations are broadly considered to

•	transparent, so it is clear to existing and new residents what new infrastructure will

communities so that the right infrastructure and affordable housing is delivered;
be uncertain and opaque, as they are subject to negotiation and renegotiation based in part
on the developer’s assessment of viability. This creates uncertainty for communities about
the level of affordable housing and infrastructure that development will bring. In turn, this
brings cost, delay and inconsistency into the process. Over 80 per cent of local authorities
agree that such negotiations create delay, despite the planning application being
acceptable in principle.15 This acts as a barrier to entry to the market, and major developers
are better placed to devote the legal and valuation resource needed to negotiate
6 0 | Planning For The Future

accompany development;
•	consistent and simplified, to remove unnecessary delay and support competition in the
housebuilding industry;
•	buoyant, so that when prices go up the benefits are shared fairly between developers and
the local community, and when prices go down there is no need to re-negotiate agreements.

The Government could also seek to use developer contributions to capture a greater
proportion of the land value uplift that occurs through the grant of planning permission, and
use this to enhance infrastructure delivery. There are a range of estimates for the amount of
land value uplift currently captured, from 25 to 50 per cent.19 The value captured will
depend on a range of factors including the development value, the existing use value of the
land, and the relevant tax structure – for instance, whether capital gains tax applies to the
land sale. Increasing value capture could be an important source of infrastructure funding
but would need to be balanced against risks to development viability.

81

Question
21. When new development happens in your area, what is your priority
for what comes with it?
[More affordable housing / More or better infrastructure (such as
transport, schools, health provision) / Design of new buildings /
More shops and/or employment space / Green space / Don’t know /
Other – please specify]

Planning For The Future | 61

Proposals
A CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

above the threshold, the Levy would only be charged on the proportion of the value that
exceeded the threshold ; and
•	provide greater certainty for communities and developers about what the level of developer
contributions are expected alongside new development.

We propose that the existing parallel regimes for securing developer contributions are
replaced with a new, consolidated ‘Infrastructure Levy’.

The single rate, or area-specific rates, would be set nationally. It would aim to increase revenue
levels nationally when compared to the current system. Revenues would continue to be collected

82

Proposal 19: The Community Infrastructure Levy should be reformed
to be charged as a fixed proportion of the development value above
a threshold, with a mandatory nationally-set rate or rates and the
current system of planning obligations abolished.

and spent locally.
As a value-based charge across all use classes, we believe it would be both more effective at
capturing increases in value and would be more sensitive to economic downturns. It would
reduce risk for developers, and would reduce cashflow difficulties, particularly for SME developers.

We believe that the current system of planning obligations under Section 106 should
be consolidated under a reformed, extended ‘Infrastructure Levy’.

In areas where land value uplift is insufficient to support significant levels of land value capture,
some or all of the value generated by the development would be below the threshold, and

This would be based upon a flat-rate, valued-based charge, set nationally, at either a single

so not subject to the levy. In higher value areas, a much greater proportion of the development

rate, or at area-specific rates. This would address issues in the current system as it would:

value would be above the exempt amount, and subject to the levy.

•	be charged on the final value of a development (or to an assessment of the sales value

To better support the timely delivery of infrastructure, we would also allow local authorities

where the development is not sold, e.g. for homes built for the rental market), based on

to borrow against Infrastructure Levy revenues so that they could forward fund infrastructure.

the applicable rate at the point planning permission is granted;

Enabling borrowing combined with a shift to levying developer contributions on completion,

•	be levied at point of occupation, with prevention of occupation being a potential sanction
for non-payment;
•	include a value-based minimum threshold below which the levy is not charged, to prevent

would incentivise local authorities to deliver enabling infrastructure, in turn helping to ensure
development can be completed faster. As with all volatile borrowing streams, local authorities
should assure themselves that this borrowing is affordable and suitable.

low viability development becoming unviable, reflecting average build costs per square
metre, with a small, fixed allowance for land costs. Where the value of development is

Under this approach the London Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy, and similar strategic

below the threshold, no Levy would be charged. Where the value of development is

Community Infrastructure Levies in combined authorities, could be retained as part of the
Infrastructure Levy to support the funding of strategic infrastructure.

6 2 | Planning For The Future

To better support the timely delivery of infrastructure, we would
also allow local authorities to borrow against Infrastructure Levy
revenues so that they could forward fund infrastructure.
In bringing forward the reformed Infrastructure Levy, we will need to consider its scope. We
will also consider the impact of this change on areas with lower land values.
Alternative option: The Infrastructure Levy could remain optional and would be set by
individual local authorities. However, as planning obligations would be consolidated into the
single Infrastructure Levy, we anticipate that there would be a significantly greater uptake.
The aim of the de minimis threshold would be to remove the viability risk, simplifying the
rate setting process, as this would remove the need for multiple charging zones within an

83

authority. It would be possible to simplify further – for instance, for the Government to set
parameters. There would be a stronger incentive for local authorities to introduce the new
Levy, as they would not be able to use Section 106 planning obligations to secure
infrastructure or affordable housing. In addition, some local authorities have chosen not to
introduce the Community Infrastructure Levy out of concern for the impact on viability of
development. Because the new Infrastructure Levy would only be charged above a set
threshold, these impacts would be mitigated.
This option would address issues around transparency, responsiveness to local needs and
consistency. However, the Government’s levers over levels of land value capture would be
less strong, with decisions about levy rates being taken at the local level.
Alternatively, the national rate approach could be taken, but with the aim of capturing more
land value than currently, to better support the delivery of infrastructure. While developers

Questions
22(a). Should the Government replace the Community Infrastructure
Levy and Section 106 planning obligations with a new
consolidated Infrastructure Levy, which is charged as a fixed
proportion of development value above a set threshold?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
22(b). Should the Infrastructure Levy rates be set nationally at a single
rate, set nationally at an area-specific rate,or set locally?
[Nationally at a single rate / Nationally at an area-specific rate / Locally]
22(c). Should the Infrastructure Levy aim to capture the same amount
of value overall, or more value, to support greater investment
in infrastructure, affordable housing and local communities?
[Same amount overall / More value / Less value / Not sure.
Please provide supporting statement.]
22(d). Should we allow local authorities to borrow against the
Infrastructure Levy, to support infrastructure delivery in their area?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

would be liable for paying the levy, the cost of this would be capitalised into land value. This
would ensure that the landowners who benefit from increases in value as a result of the
grant of planning permission contribute to the infrastructure and affordable housing that
makes development acceptable.

Planning For The Future | 63

Proposal 21: The reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver
affordable housing provision
Developer contributions currently deliver around half of all affordable housing, most of
which is delivered on-site. It is important that the reformed approach will continue to deliver

Proposal 20: The scope of the Infrastructure Levy could be extended
to capture changes of use through permitted development rights

84

In making this change to developer contributions for new development, the scope of the
Infrastructure Levy would be extended to better capture changes of use which require
planning permission, even where there is no additional floorspace, and for some permitted
development rights including office to residential conversions and new demolition and rebuild
permitted development rights. This approach would increase the levy base, and would allow
these developments to better contribute to infrastructure delivery and making development
acceptable to the community. However, we will maintain the exemption of self and custombuild development from the Infrastructure Levy.

on-site affordable housing at least at present levels.
Affordable housing provision is currently secured by local authorities via Section 106, but the
Community Infrastructure Levy cannot be spent on it. With Section 106 planning obligations
removed, we propose that under the Infrastructure Levy, authorities would be able to use
funds raised through the levy to secure affordable housing.
This could be secured through in-kind delivery on-site, which could be made mandatory
where an authority has a requirement, capability and wishes to do so. Local authorities
would have a means to specify the forms and tenures of the on-site provision, working with
a nominated affordable housing provider. Under this approach, a provider of affordable
housing could purchase the dwelling at a discount from market rate, as now. However, rather
than the discount being secured through Section 106 planning obligations, it would instead

Question

be considered as in-kind delivery of the Infrastructure Levy. In effect, the difference between

23. Do you agree that the scope of the reformed Infrastructure Levy
should capture changes of use through permitted development rights?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

from the final cash liability to the Levy. This would create an incentive for the developer to

6 4 | Planning For The Future

the price at which the unit was sold to the provider and the market price would be offset
build on-site affordable housing where appropriate.16 First Homes, which are sold by the
developer direct to the customer at a discount to market price, would offset the discount
against the cash liability.

85
Planning For The Future | 65

Under this approach we recognise that some risk is transferring to the local planning authority,

proportion would be set nationally, and the developer would have discretion over which units

and that we would need to mitigate that risk in order to maintain existing levels of on-site

were sold in this way. A threshold would be set for smaller sites, below which on-site delivery

affordable housing delivery. We believe that this risk can be fully addressed through policy

was not required, and cash payment could be made in lieu. Where on-site units were purchased,

design. In particular, in the event of a market fall, we could allow local planning authorities

these could be used for affordable housing, or sold on (or back to the developer) to raise

to ‘flip’ a proportion of units back to market units which the developer can sell, if Levy

money to purchase affordable housing elsewhere. The local authority could use Infrastructure

liabilities are insufficient to cover the value secured through in-kind contributions. Alternatively,

Levy funds, or other funds, in order to purchase units.

we could require that if the value secured through in-kind units is greater than the final levy
liability, then the developer has no right to reclaim overpayments. Government could
provide standardised agreements, to codify how risk sharing would work in this way.

86

We would also need to ensure the developer was incentivised to deliver high build and
design quality for their in-kind affordable homes. Currently, if Section 106 homes are not
of sufficient quality, developers may be unable to sell it to a provider, or have to reduce the
price. To ensure developers are not rewarded for low-standard homes under the Levy, local
authorities could have an option to revert back to cash contributions if no provider was
willing to buy the homes due to their poor quality. It is important that any approach taken
maintains the quality of affordable housing provision as well as overarching volumes, and
incentivises early engagement between providers of affordable housing and developers.
Local authorities could also accept Infrastructure Levy payments in the form of land within or
adjacent to a site. Through borrowing against further Infrastructure Levy receipts, other
sources of funding, or in partnership with affordable housing providers, they could then
build affordable homes, enabling delivery at pace.
Alternative option: We could seek to introduce further requirements around the delivery
of affordable housing. To do this we would create a ‘first refusal’ right for local authorities or
any affordable housing provider acting on their behalf to buy up to a set proportion of on-site
units (on a square metre basis) at a discounted price, broadly equivalent to build costs. The
6 6 | Planning For The Future

Questions
24(a). Do you agree that we should aim to secure at least the same
amount of affordable housing under the Infrastructure Levy,
and as much on-site affordable provision, as at present?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
24(b). Should affordable housing be secured as in-kind payment towards
the Infrastructure Levy, or as a ‘right to purchase’ at discounted
rates for local authorities?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
24(c). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, should we mitigate
against local authority overpayment risk?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
24(d). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, are there additional steps
that would need to be taken to support affordable housing quality?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Proposal 22: More freedom could be given to local authorities over
how they spend the Infrastructure Levy
It is important that there is a strong link between where development occurs and where
funding is spent. Currently, the Neighbourhood Share of the Community Infrastructure Levy
ensures that up to 25 per cent of the levy is spent on priorities in the area that development
occurred, with funding transferred to parish councils in parished areas. There are fewer
restrictions on how this funding is spent, and we believe it provides an important incentive

87

to local communities to allow development in their area. We therefore propose that under

Questions
25. Should local authorities have fewer restrictions over how they spend
the Infrastructure Levy?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
25(a).If yes, should an affordable housing ‘ring-fence’ be developed?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

this approach the Neighbourhood Share would be kept, and we would be interested in ways
to enhance community engagement around how these funds are used, with scope for digital
innovation to promote engagement.
There is scope for even more flexibility around spending. We could also increase local
authority flexibility, allowing them to spend receipts on their policy priorities, once core
infrastructure obligations have been met. In addition to the provision of local infrastructure,
including parks, open spaces, street trees and delivery or enhancement of community
facilities, this could include improving services or reducing council tax. The balance of

It is important that there is a strong link
between where development occurs and
where funding is spent.

affordable housing and infrastructure may vary depending on a local authority’s
circumstances, but under this approach it may be necessary to consider ring-fencing a
certain amount of Levy funding for affordable housing to ensure that affordable housing
continues to be delivered on-site at current levels (or higher).There would also be
opportunities to enhance digital engagement with communities as part of decision making
around spending priorities. Alternatively, the permitted uses of the Levy could remain
focused on infrastructure and affordable housing, as they are broadly are at present. Local
authorities would continue to identify the right balance between these to meet local needs,
as they do at present.
Planning For The Future | 67

Delivering change
How we move into the new system
It is important that in bringing forward reform to improve the operation of the planning

•	securing of First Homes, sold at a discount to market price for first time buyers, including
key workers, through developer contributions in the short term until the transition
to a new system;

system, we do not cause delays to development that is currently planned.

•	temporarily lifting the small sites threshold, below which developers do not need

Subject to responses to this consultation, we will consider the arrangements for implementing

•	extending the current Permission in Principle to major development so landowners and

to contribute to affordable housing, to up to 40 or 50 units;
these changes to minimise disruption to existing plans and development proposals and

developers now have a fast route to secure the principle of development for housing

ensure a smooth transition. This includes making sure that recently approved plans, existing

on sites without having to work up detailed plans first;

permissions and any associated planning obligations can continue to be implemented as
This consultation document can be found at:

and development proposals as the new system begins to be implemented.

www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system .

Nevertheless, we do want to make rapid progress toward this new planning system. We are

To provide better information to local communities, to promote competition amongst

already introducing a new Use Class Order, with associated permitted development rights,

developers, and to assist SMEs and new entrants to the sector, we will consult on options

to make easier for businesses to change use without the need for planning permission to

for improving the data held on contractual arrangements used to control land. This can be

support our high streets and town centres bounce back following the COVID-19 pandemic.

found at: www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transparency-and-competition-a-call-for-

We have also created new permitted development rights to enable more new homes to be

evidence-on-data-on-land-control .

88

intended; and that there are clear transitional arrangements for bringing forward new plans

built on top of buildings and the demolition and rebuild of vacant buildings for housing,
without the need for usual planning permission.

Public assets and investment

Today, we are also publishing a consultation on four shorter-term measures which will

As we fix our planning system, we also want to make better use of surplus land owned by

improve the immediate effectiveness of the current system:

the public sector, and to level up public investment in development to support renewal

•	changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need, which as well as being

of towns and cities across the country, giving power to communities to shape its future use

a proposal to change guidance in the short term has relevance to proposals for land

and bringing investment to places across the country. We will do this by:

supply reforms set out in this paper;
•	Ensuring investment in new public buildings supports renewal and regeneration of town
and city centres across the country. The Government Estate Strategy (GES), which was
6 8 | Planning For The Future

published in 2018, sets out how we will use the estate as an enabler to deliver better

enable more flexible development corporation models that can drive housing, regeneration

outcomes for the public, across all four nations of the UK. As part of this, the Government

and employment. We are currently considering responses to the consultation and will

Hubs programme aims to transform the Government’s office estate by accommodating

respond to it shortly.

departmental workforces in shared regional hubs and supporting office estate – creating
strategic hubs across the UK in major city centre conurbations and in secondary towns and
cities. We will continue to look at how the Government can ensure investment in its estate
delivers wider benefits for places across the country.

89

•	Exploring how disposal of publicly-owned land can support the SME and self-build sectors.
As announced by the Prime Minister last month in ‘A New Deal for Britain’, the Government
will produce a new cross-government strategy on how land owned by the Government can
be managed and released more effectively and put to better use. As part of this review,
we will explore how we can support SME housebuilders, community land trusts and
self-builders to identify public land opportunities.

Supporting innovation in delivery
As we bring forward planning reform, we also want to ensure we have in place the right
delivery mechanisms, including development corporations. A good example that we are
already progressing is development at Toton in the East Midlands, where we have
announced our intention to support the establishment of a development corporation to
maximise the area’s international links and create tens of thousands of new homes and jobs.
We want to see more schemes of this kind, backed by modern delivery models, around
the country.
That is why we consulted at the end of last year on changes to the legislative framework for
development corporations. This includes exploring whether we need to make changes to
Planning For The Future | 69

Making sure the system has the right people and skills

departments operate. They need to be more outward looking, proactively engaging with

Local planning authorities remain at the heart of our ambitious reforms. We want to free up

local communities.

developers, businesses, architects and designers, as well as a wider cross-section of their

planners to focus on what they were trained for – creating great communities through world-class
civic engagement and proactive plan-making,rather than reactive development management.

In particular, we envisage the focus of local planning authorities shifting towards the
development of clear Local Plans and high-quality design codes which set the parameters
for development – rather than making discretionary decisions based on vague policies.

as well as the necessary resources, to implement these reforms successfully. Many local authorities

In doing so, there is a real opportunity for planners to redesign their individual roles and

are delivering great services, and through the COVID-19 pandemic have been able to transform

change perceptions of their profession. We will consider how best to support the planning

the way they work to a more digital and modern service. We look forward to seeing evaluations

profession in making this adjustment, in a way which supports culture change, improves

and lessons learned so that we can use this as a catalyst for modernisation of our planning services.

recruitment and changes perceptions of planning.

But we know that local authority planning departments are under great pressure – with spending

In addition, other key players, including the Planning Inspectorate and statutory consultees,

per person on planning and development down 60 per cent and shortages of specialist skills

will have to transform the way they operate in response to these reforms, given their critical

such as design and ecology. And the technology in local planning authorities to support

role supporting the preparation of Local Plans and decision-making. They too will need

modern services is not there – whilst PropTech firms are developing new apps and other digital

to be more responsive and outward looking, and have the necessary skills and resources

services that enable communities to engage with development in new ways, in few places can

to undertake their new roles.

90

We recognise that local planning departments need to have the right people with the right skills,

17

this be captured by the local authority. Instead, documents are submitted electronically, but not
in the way of modern digital services such as those now supporting tax services.

We understand why many participants – not just local authorities, but statutory consultees and
the Planning Inspectorate – are risk averse. Judicial review is expensive, and to lose a judicial

The preparation of reformed Local Plans, development of new design codes, a major overhaul

review in the courts is bad for the reputation of either. And judicial reviews can be precedent

of development contributions, and a new streamlined approach to decision-making will have

setting, establishing a new interpretation of the law. We think the proposals set out in the

profound implications for how local planning authorities operate in future. They will need to

document should remove the risk of judicial review substantially. Most judicial reviews are

have sufficient leadership, a strong cadre of professional planners and good access to

about imprecise and unclearly worded policies or law. Our plans for an overhaul of planning

technical expertise, as well as transformed systems which utilise the latest digital technology.

law to create simple and clear processes and for plans that set out clear requirements and

But equally importantly, there must be a fundamental cultural change on how planning

standards will substantially remove the scope for ambiguity and therefore challenge.

7 0 | Planning For The Future

The cost of operating the new planning system should beprincipally
funded by the beneficiaries of planning gain – landowners and
developers – rather than the national or local taxpayer.
Proposal 23: As we develop our final proposals for this new planning
system, we will develop a comprehensive resources and skills strategy
for the planning sector to support the implementation of our reforms.
In doing so, we propose this strategy will be developed including the
following key elements:

Some local planning activities should still be funded through general taxation given the

The cost of operating the new planning system should be principally funded by the beneficiaries

continuous improvement across all planning functions from Local Plans to decision-making and

of planning gain – landowners and developers – rather than the national or local taxpayer.

enforcement – and enables early intervention if problems emerge with individual authorities.

public benefits from good planning, and time limited funding will be made available by
the Government in line with the new burdens principle to support local planning authorities
to transition to the new planning system as part of the next Spending Review.
Local planning authorities should be subject to a new performance framework which ensures

91

Currently, the cost of development management activities by local planning authorities is to
a large extent covered by planning fees, although the current fee structure means the cost

The Planning Inspectorate and statutory consultees should become more self-financing

of processing some applications can be significantly greater than their individual fee. However,

through new charging mechanisms and be subject to new performance targets to improve

the cost of preparing Local Plans and enforcement activities is now largely funded from the local

their performance.

planning authority’s own resources.
Workforce planning and skills development, including training, should be principally for the local
Planning fees should continue to be set on a national basis and cover at least the full cost of

government sector to lead on, working closely with Government, statutory consultees, planning

processing the application type based on clear national benchmarking. This should involve the

consultancies and universities.

greater regulation of discretionary pre-application charging to ensure it is fair and proportionate.
Reform should be accompanied by a significant enhancement in digital and geospatial capability
If a new approach to development contributions is implemented, a small proportion of the

and capacity across the planning sector to support high-quality new digital Local Plans and

income should be earmarked to local planning authorities to cover their overall planning costs,

digitally enabled decision-making. We think the English planning profession has the potential

including the preparation and review of Local Plans and design codes and enforcement activities.

to become an international world-leader in digital planning, capable of exporting world class
planning services around the world.

Reform should be accompanied by a deep dive regulatory review to identify and eliminate
outdated regulations which increase costs for local planning authorities, especially to the
decision-making process.

Planning For The Future | 71

In developing this strategy, we recognise different local planning authorities face different
pressures and issues, and it will be important to develop a resourcing and skills framework
which works for all authorities across the country. We will work with local planning
authorities, professional bodies and the wider planning sector to ensure views about
implementation are considered. We would particularly want to see innovative solutions
which can transform practice

Stuart Walker Photography

At the same time, we also want to enable a thriving PropTech sector. By unlocking the data
that underpins the planning system so that it is open, we want to enable the PropTech
sector to transform housing, land, and planning industries with innovative products that are

92

interoperable with others. This will make use of process improvement insights and data to
offer services for many different clients, including for improved public consultation
opportunities for citizens and developers to identify sites on which to build, helping to
reduce investment risks. We will continue to engage with the innovators and the UK
PropTech sector through a Minister-led PropTech Innovation Council (announced in
November 2019) to make the most of innovative new approaches to meet public policy
objectives, help this emerging sector to boost productivity in the wider planning and
housing sectors, and ensure government data and decisions support the sector’s growth in
the UK and internationally.

Stronger enforcement
As part of the implementation of our planning reforms, we want to see local planning authorities
place more emphasis on the enforcement of planning standards and decisions. Planning
enforcement activity is too often seen as the ‘Cinderella’ function of local planning services.
But local communities want new development to meet required design and environmental
standards, and robust enforcement action to be taken if planning rules are broken. As local
7 2 | Planning For The Future

planning authorities are freed from many planning requirements through our reforms, they will
be able to focus more on enforcement across the planning system.

Proposal 24: We will seek to strengthen enforcement powers
and sanctions
We will review and strengthen the existing planning enforcement powers and sanctions available
to local planning authorities to ensure they support the new planning system. We will introduce
more powers to address intentional unauthorised development, consider higher fines, and look
to ways of supporting more enforcement activity.
This will include implementing our commitments from the Government’s response to the
consultation on unauthorised development and encampments, to strengthen national
planning policy against intentional unauthorised development and ensure temporary stop
notices are more effective. And will also consider what more can be done in cases where the
Environment Agency’s flood risk advice on planning applications is not followed.

We will seek to strengthen enforcement
powers and sanctions

93

What happens next
Implementing reform

and traditional models of community engagement discourages people from having their say

The proposals in this paper apply to England only. Planning is devolved in Scotland, Wales

from a narrow set of demographic groups – typically older, better off and white. We believe

and Northern Ireland.

that the voices of those who may benefit most from new development are therefore often

on decisions. At the same time, it disproportionately encourages engagement from people

the quietest in the planning process.
Subject to the outcome of this consultation, we will seek to bring forward legislation and
We are committed to delivering wider engagement in planning, increasing the supply

of a reformed planning system. We have not comprehensively covered every aspect of the

of land for development, and supporting inclusive and mixed communities. Some authorities

system, and the detail of the proposals will need further development pending the outcome

and developers are pioneering new models of engagement that broaden this to different

of this consultation. We will continue to develop the proposals as we gather feedback and

groups. We hope that the reforms set out in this consultation – to make the system more

views on them.

accessible, accountable, digital and transparent – will increase access and engagement

94

policy changes to implement our reforms. This consultation sets out our vision for the basis

for all groups up and down the country.

Our proposals for Local Plan reform, changes to developer contributions and development
management would require primary legislation followed by secondary legislation. The proposals

We would welcome views on the potential impact on the proposals raised in this

allow 30 months for new Local Plans to be in place so a new planning framework, so we would

consultation on people with protected characteristics and whether further reforms

expect new Local Plans to be in place by the end of the Parliament.

could broaden access to planning for people in diverse groups.

We would implement any policy changes, including to set a new housing requirement,
by updating the National Planning Policy Framework in line with the new legislation.

Responding to this consultation
EQUALITIES IMPACTS
We want all communities, families, groups and individuals to have a say in the future of the
places where they live. For too long, planning and planning decisions have felt out of reach
from too many people. The Government has heard how the combination of technical jargon
7 4 | Planning For The Future

Question
26. Do you have any views on the potential impact of the proposals
raised in this consultation on people with protected characteristics
as defined in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010?

95
Planning For The Future | 75

About this consultation
This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere to the

Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested.

Consultation Principles issued by the Cabinet Office.
Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document and respond.
Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they
represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their conclusions

Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed the Consultation Principles? If not or you

when they respond.

have any other observations about how we can improve the process please contact us via
the complaints procedure.

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal data, may be
published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are
primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA),

96

the General Data Protection Regulation, and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004.
If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware
that, as a public authority, the Department is bound by the Freedom of Information Act and
may therefore be obliged to disclose all or some of the information you provide. In view of
this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have
provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will take
full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be
maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your
IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department.
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government will process your personal
data in accordance with the law and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that your
personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. A full privacy notice is included at Annex A.

7 6 | Planning For The Future

97

Annex A
The following is to explain your rights and give you the information you are be entitled to

4. With whom we will be sharing your personal data

under the data protection legislation.

We will not share your personal data with organisations outside of MHCLG without
contacting you for your permission first.

These rights apply to your personal data (your name address and anything that could be used
to identify you personally) not the content of your response to the consultation.
1. The identity of the data controller and contact details of our Data Protection Officer

5. For how long we will keep your personal data, or criteria used to determine the
retention period.

Your personal data will be held for two years from the closure of the consultation.

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data controller.
The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at dataprotection@communities.gsi.gov.uk

6. Your rights, e.g. access, rectification, erasure
The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have considerable say over what
happens to it. You have the right:

Your personal data is being collected as an essential part of the consultation process, so that

a. to see what data we have about you

we can contact you regarding your response and for statistical purposes. We may also use it

b. to ask us to stop using your data, but keep it on record

to contact you about related matters.

c. to ask to have all or some of your data deleted or corrected

98

2. Why we are collecting your personal data

d. to lodge a complaint with the independent Information Commissioner (ICO) if you think
3. Our legal basis for processing your personal data

we are not handling your data fairly or in accordance with the law. You can contact the ICO

Article 6(1)(e) of the General Data Protection Regulation 2016 (GPDR) provides that

at https://ico.org.uk/, or telephone 0303 123 1113.

processing shall be lawful if processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out
in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller. Section

7. Storage of your personal data

8(d) of the Data Protection Act 2018 further provides that this shall include processing of

The Data you provide directly will be stored by MHCLG’s appointed third-party on their

personal data that is necessary for the exercise of a function of the Crown, a Minister of the

servers. We have taken all necessary precautions to ensure that your rights in terms of data

Crown or a government department.

protection will not be compromised by this.

The processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or

If you submit information to this consultation using our third-party survey provider, it will be moved

in the exercise of official authority vested in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local

to our secure government IT systems at a date following the consultation publication date.

Government. The task is consulting on departmental policies or proposals or obtaining
opinion data in order to develop good effective government policies in relation to’ planning.
7 8 | Planning For The Future

8. Your personal data will not be used for any automated decision making.

99
Planning For The Future | 79

Footnotes
1 The shortage of affordable homes in and close to the most productive urban centres is a major drag on national
productivity – see PwC (2019) “UK Housing market outlook”, available at https://www.pwc.co.uk/economic-services/
ukeo/ukeo-housing-market-july-2019.pdf.
2 The EU Compendium of Spatial Planning Systems and Policies, European Commission (1997);OECD (2017), Land-use
Planning Systems in the OECD: Country Fact Sheets;Monk, S., Whitehead, C., Burgess, G. & Tang, C. (2013)
International review of land supply and planning systems, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
3 MHCLG data, period covering 24 months to end March 2019.
4 YouGov polling commissioned by Grosvenor (2019) – available at https://www.grosvenor.com/Grosvenor/files/a2/
a222517e-e270-4a5c-ab9f-7a7b4d99b1f3.pdf. An overview of wider evidence and studies on public attitudes to
planning and development is available in chapter 9 of the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission’s interim
report –available at https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/815495/BBBB_Commission_Interim_Report_Appendices.pdf.

100

5 See the LGA’s open statement on planning at https://www.local.gov.uk/keep-planning-local.
6 MHCLG (2019) The Value and Incidence of Developer Contributions in England 2018/19 available at: https://gov.uk/
government/publications/section-106-planning-obligations-and-the-community-infrastructure-levy-in-england-2018-to2019-report-of-study
7 MHCLG data on housing supply available at https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/housing-supply-net-additionaldwellings-england-2018-to-2019.
8 Data from the Deloitte Property Index, available at https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/cz/Documents/
survey/Property_Index_2016_EN.pdf
9 Building Better Building Beautiful Commission (2019) Creating space for beauty: Interim report. Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/815493/
BBBBC_Commission_Interim_Report.pdf
10 See https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875032/
Planning_Application_Statistics_October_to_December_2019.pdf (p.3).
11 See Policy Exchange (2020) “A planning system for the 20th century”, available at: https://policyexchange.org.uk/
publication/rethinking-the-planning-system-for-the-21st-century/ Centre for Cities (2020) “Planning for the future”,
available at: https://www.centreforcities.org/publication/planning-for-the-future/; Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission (2020) “Living with beauty: promoting health, well-being and sustainable growth”, available at: https://
www.gov.uk/government/publications/living-with-beauty-report-of-the-building-better-building-beautiful-commission;
Create Streets (2018) “From NIMBY to YIMBY”, and (2018) “More Good Homes”.

8 0 | Planning For The Future

12 RTPI (2020) “Plan the world we need: The contribution of planning to a sustainable, resilient and inclusive
recovery”, available at: https://www.rtpi.org.uk/research/2020/june/plan-the-world-we-need/.
13 Our plan for cycling and walking is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-andwalking-plan-for-england.
14 To give your views on the England Tree Strategy, please visit https://consult.defra.gov.uk/forestry/england-treestrategy/.
15 MHCLG (2019) The Value and Incidence of Developer Contributions in England 2018/19
16 As above, a Section 106 planning obligation could still be used to secure a covenant on the land, where
necessary. However, the value would be captured through the Infrastructure Levy, rather than Section 106.
17 Institute for Fiscal Studies (2019) “English local government funding: trends and challenges in 2019 and
beyond”, https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/English-local-government-funding-trends-and-challenges-in-2019and-beyond-IFS-Report-166.pdf
18 For more information see https://www.commonplace.is/
19 Estimates provided to the Housing, Communities and Local Government Select Committee Inquiry into Land
Value Capture: https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/766/766.pdf

101

Image Credits
Image

Credit

Page

Image

Credit

Front cover

Tregunnel Hill

ADAM Architecture

51

Milford

HTA Design

3

Timekeepers Square

Buttress Architects, English Cities Fund, HDA Winner

53

Roussillon Park, Chichester

Designed Ben Pentreath Ltd

11

Rochester Riverside, Chatham

BPTW for Countryside, HDA winner

61

South Gardens, Elephant and Castle

Maccreanor Lavington for Lend Lease, HDA winner

14

Peverell Avenue in Poundbury

Andrew Cameron & Associates

65

Foreman Manor

Aspen Homes

17

Timekeepers Square

Buttress Architects, English Cities Fund, HDA Winner

69

Listers Pods, Lister Mills, Bradford

Urban Splash

18

South Gardens, Elephant and Castle

Maccreanor Lavington for Lend Lease, HDA winner

72

Stuart Walker Photography

19

East Float, Wirral Waters

House by Urban Splash & Peel L&P

Community engagement,
St Cuthbert’s Garden Village

23

Community engagement,
St Cuthbert’s Garden Village

Stuart Walker Photography

73

Nansledan

ADAM Architecture

24

Wapping Wharf Phase I, Bristol

Alec French Architects

77

102

Page

75

Robert Kwolek

81

27

Wapping Wharf Phase I, Bristol

Alec French Architects

Rear cover

28

Fountains Close

Richmond Housing Partnership

31

Cecil Square

ADAM Architecture

38

Community engagement

HTA Design

39

Community engagement

HTA Design

40

Community engagement

HTA Design

42

Community engagement

HTA Design

43

Inholm site plan, Inholm,
Northstowe, Cambs

Proctor and Matthews, Homes England, HDA winner

44

Roussillon Park, Chichester

Designed Ben Pentreath Ltd

46

AVRO Manchester

Urban Splash

47

Cane Hill

HTA Design

48

Park Hill, Sheffield

Urban Splash & Places for People

49

Tregunnel Hill

ADAM Architects

50

Great Kneighton

Countryside Properties

25

8 2 | Planning For The Future

Robert Kwolek
Piece Hall

Piece Hall
PRP Architects

Campbell Park, Milton Keynes

Urban Splash & Places for People

103
Planning For The Future | 83

© Crown copyright, 2020
Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.
You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or

104

medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg
If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form
at http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at:
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF
Telephone: 030 3444 0000
For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg
August 2020

